
 

Education and Children's Services 
Scrutiny Sub-Committee 

 
Wednesday 12 January 2011 

7.00 pm 
Town Hall, Peckham Road, London SE5 8UB 

 
Membership 
 

Reserves 
 

Councillor David Hubber (Chair) 
Councillor the Right Revd Emmanuel 
Oyewole (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Lorraine Lauder MBE 
Councillor Adele Morris 
Councillor Rosie Shimell 
Councillor Althea Smith 
Councillor Cleo Soanes 
Reverend Nicholas Elder 
Colin Elliott 
Leticia Ojeda 
Sharon Donno 
 

Councillor Patrick Diamond 
Councillor Victoria Mills 
Councillor Martin Seaton 
Councillor Nick Stanton 
Councillor Geoffrey Thornton 
 

 
INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

 
Access to information You have the right to request to inspect copies of minutes and 
reports on this agenda as well as the background documents used in the preparation of 
these reports. 

Babysitting/Carers allowances If you are a resident of the borough and have paid 
someone to look after your children, an elderly dependant or a dependant with disabilities 
so that you could attend this meeting, you may claim an allowance from the council.  
Please collect a claim form at the meeting. 

Access The council is committed to making its meetings accessible.  Further details on 
building access, translation, provision of signers etc for this meeting are on the council’s 
web site: www.southwark.gov.uk or please contact the person below. 

Contact Julie Timbrell on 020 7525 0514  or email: julie.timbrell@southwark.gov.uk   
 
 
Members of the committee are summoned to attend this meeting 
Annie Shepperd 
Chief Executive 
Date: 4 January 2011 
 

 
 

Open Agenda



 

Education and Children's Services Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee 

 
Wednesday 12 January 2011 

7.00 pm 
Town Hall, Peckham Road, London SE5 8UB 

 
 

Order of Business 
 
 

Item No. Title Page No. 
 

 PART A - OPEN BUSINESS 
 

 

1. APOLOGIES 
 

 

2. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR 
DEEMS URGENT 

 

 

 In special circumstances, an item of business may be added to an agenda 
within five clear working days of the meeting. 
 

 

3. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS 
 

 

 Members to declare any personal interests and dispensation in respect of 
any item of business to be considered at this meeting. 
 

 

4. MINUTES 
 

1 - 16 

 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the open section of the 
meeting held on 16 November 2010. 
 

 

5. SOUTHWARK YOUTH COUNCIL 
 

17 - 18 

 Representatives from Southwark Youth Council will attend the meeting to 
explore how the scrutiny committee could work with the youth council. A 
discussion paper, prepared by the youth council, is attached.  
 

 

6. SAFEGUARDING 
 

19 - 66 

 The committee will consider the draft Annual Safeguarding Report and 
meet the new independent chair of Southwark Safeguarding Children 
Board, Chris Davies CBE. 
 

 



 
 
 
 

Item No. Title Page No. 
 
 

7. REVIEW OF CHILDHOOD OBESITY AND SPORTS PROVISION FOR 
PRIMARY AND SECONDARY CHILDREN 

 

67 - 78 

 A report on the work of Bacons College is attached.  
 

 

8. REVIEW OF PARENTING SUPPORT - PART ONE: SCHOOL 
ADMISSIONS 

 

 

9. TRAINING 
 

 

10. WORK PROGRAMME 
 

 

 DISCUSSION OF ANY OTHER OPEN ITEMS AS NOTIFIED AT THE 
START OF THE MEETING. 
 

 

 PART B - CLOSED BUSINESS 
 

 

 DISCUSSION OF ANY CLOSED ITEMS AS NOTIFIED AT THE START 
OF THE MEETING AND ACCEPTED BY THE CHAIR AS URGENT. 
 

 

  
 

 

  
 

 

 
Date:  4 January 2011 
 



1 
 
 

Education and Children's Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee - Tuesday 16 November 2010 
 

 
 
 
 

EDUCATION AND CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY 
SUB-COMMITTEE 

 
MINUTES of the Education and Children's Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee held on 
Tuesday 16 November 2010 at 7.00 pm at Town Hall, Peckham Road, London SE5 
8UB  
 
 
PRESENT: Councillor David Hubber (Chair) 

Councillor the Right Revd Emmanuel Oyewole 
Councillor Lorraine Lauder MBE 
Councillor Adele Morris 
Councillor Rosie Shimell 
Councillor Althea Smith 
Councillor Cleo Soanes 
Sharon Donno 
 

MEMBERS OF THE 
PUBLIC : 
 

  
Lisa Zychowicz 

OFFICER 
SUPPORT: 

Julie Timbrell, project manager 
Dr Ann Marie Connolly, director of public health 
Rosie Dalton-Lucas, health and well-being manager 
Jin Lim, consultant in public health 
Clare Smith, healthy schools adviser, children’s services 
Tim Hetherington, strategy development manager, sports 
 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
 

 1.1 There were no apologies. 
 

2. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR DEEMS URGENT  
 

 2.1 There were none. 
 

3. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS  
 

Open AgendaAgenda Item 4
1



2 
 
 

Education and Children's Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee - Tuesday 16 November 2010 
 

 3.1 There were no disclosures of interests or dispensations. 
 

4. MINUTES  
 

 4.1 The minutes of the 4 October 2010 committee meeting were approved, with the 
correction of the spelling of Cllr Adele Morris’s name.  

 
4.2 It was reported that the former parent governor representatives’, Jane Hole and 

Colin Elliott, terms have now come to an end. Elections for parent governor 
representatives for next two years will shortly take place. The Chair expressed his 
thanks for their services. 

 

5. REVIEW OF PARENTING SUPPORT - PART ONE: SCHOOL ADMISSIONS  
 

 5.1 The committee agreed considered the review topic. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
The committee agreed they would pursue the following topic by: 
 
i) Holding interviews with officers and parents representatives and, if possible, any 
governors in a one-off session 
 
ii) Request evidence from the Admissions Forum 
 
iii) Contact the Early Years Parents Forum with a view to visiting to consult them on the 
review.  
 
 

6. REVIEW OF CHILDHOOD OBESITY AND SPORTS PROVISION FOR SECONDARY 
AND PRIMARY CHILDREN  

 

  
6.1 Jin Lin, consultant in Public Health, did a presentation on ‘Obesity and Physical 

Activity’ (appended to the minutes). 
 
6.2 Information was first presented on the prevalence of childhood overweight and 

obesity in the population of Southwark.  
 
6.3  Data sets were presented that indicated that as children move from reception to 

year 6 the percentage of overweight and obese children increases. 
 
6.4 The trend is generally raising and Southwark has a greater number of overweight 

and obese children than the English and London average. 
 
6.5 Data sets by community council area were presented and it was noted that there is 

a link between obesity and social deprivation. Particular hot sports were identified.  
 

2



3 
 
 

Education and Children's Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee - Tuesday 16 November 2010 
 

6.6 There are more obese boys than girls. 
 
6.7 The presentation then moved on to look at the evidence of what interventions work 

to reduce the problem of childhood obesity. The recommendations emphasize the 
importance of a holistic, multi faceted approach.  

 
6.8 The specific ‘NICE’ recommendations are to increase physical activity, improve the 

physical environment to encourage physical activity and to promote evidence 
based behavior change. 

 
6.9 Information was presented on the strategic approach to reducing childhood obesity 

including the national and borough wide approach and work with schools, teachers 
and parents. 

 
6.10 Three locally effective interventions were highlighted. MEND (Mind, Exercise, Do it) 

was part of a national trial and had been effective at decreasing children’s BMI 
(Body Mass Index) and reducing waist circumference. The ‘Superstars Challenge’ 
had been similarly effective. Lastly the Bacons School Partnership has seen a year 
on year increase in physical activity. 

 
6.11 Southwark’s strategy is focused on weight management, targeted at those at 

greatest risk, aims to shift the curve, and seeks to prevent childhood obesity by 
working with children in early years. 

 
6.12 It was noted that Southwark’s recent commitment to free school meals will be part 

of a whole school approach to reducing childhood obesity. The ‘whole school 
approach’ emphasizes engaging with pupils, teachers and parents, embedding 
healthy eating in the curriculum, encouraging healthy behavior in and out of school 
and linking transports plans with the physical environment and the food strategy. 

 
6.13 Southwark has a fast food outlet strategy aimed at limiting the saturation by 

reducing the number of new outlets in certain areas and promoting healthier menus 
at existing outlets.  

 
6.14 Members of the committee were invited to ask questions. 
 
6.15 A member asked when did we start to develop a problem with childhood obesity; 

commenting that we have not always been an obese country and borough. Officers 
commented that it has been a gradual process through changes to our way of life; 
travel, work and changes to diet. Data has been collected over the last 4 years. 

 
6.16 There was a comment from members that there is evidence that overweight and 

obese parents are more likely to have children with a weight problem. Members 
asked what programmes are there to address families? Officers indicated that the 
MEND programme works with parents and there are national programmes which 
target family behaviour. 

 
6.17 Members indicted that there had been a debate at Council Assembly about 

breakfast clubs being more effective than lunch. Officers commented that the data 
presented had not looked at breakfast clubs for free provision; however they had 
considered, and would recommend, a whole school approach. 

3



4 
 
 

Education and Children's Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee - Tuesday 16 November 2010 
 

 
6.18 There was a query on the provision of lunch and why this needed to be free. An 

officer commented that the concept is that some families on low incomes may not 
think it is a good use of limited resources to spend funds on the purchase of school 
meals. Uptake increases through universal provision and it reduces stigmatisation. 

 
6.19 There was a query on nutritional standards and if they are high enough. Officers 

commented that they are high; however Southwark has around 27 providers which 
provide a challenge to monitor. The providers in the free school meals pilot are 
different. One positive thing is that the pilot will enable us to meet with the different 
providers. 

 
6.20 A member asked at what point is the nutritional value of the food measured? Is this 

done at the menu planning stage or delivery point? Officers clarified that this is 
done at the menu stage. 

 
6.21 Concern was expressed that that lunches provided are often prepared hours in 

advance. The food is often insipid tasting and then children choose the tastier bits, 
which may not be the healthiest parts of the meal. Mover sometimes the food at 
delivery point has little resemblance to the menu description. 

 
6.22 A member commented that responsibility for school meal provision has now moved 

to the governors which may not be realistic for them to adequately monitor.  
 
6.23 A member queried the involvement of schools in the Bacons partnership and the 

level of participation. Officers explained that all schools in the South of the borough 
had an opportunity to participate. There was a similar partnership for the north of 
the borough. 

 
6.24 Officers reported that the Leader had written to all the schools inviting them to 

participate in the Olympic school programme and the council is aiming for 100 % 
participation. 

 
6.25 Officers reported that schools had been specifically recruited for the ‘Superstars 

Challenge’. Schools with high levels of obesity had been approached. Outside of 
this we are also offering the ‘community games’.  

 
6.26 Members asked if schools have been alerted to the high levels of obesity. Officers 

reported that they write to all schools individually with the relevant data sets and 
comparisons. 

 
6.27 Members asked if officers target schools with a high prevalence. Officer reported 

that they did and gave an example of a social networking initiative that was 
targeted at schools with a higher prevalence. Work on childhood obesity is also 
related to the School Development Plan. The Healthy School Programme 
contacted schools to encourage them to participate in programmes such as the 
‘Dance for Life’ initiative. 

 
 
6.28 Officers reported that there is evidence that behaviour patterns are set down 

before the age of 5. Messages to parents are directed at ensuring that parent’s 

4



5 
 
 

Education and Children's Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee - Tuesday 16 November 2010 
 

undertand that from an early age that excess weight can adversely affect children’s 
life chances. 

 
6.29 Members asked how much support and education will be done with parents to 

improve nutrition at home during the school meals pilot. Officers respond that this 
is part of the negotiation with schools; a whole school approach with schools is 
being advocated. Parents would receive a pack and the school environment as a 
whole would be addressed. Members commented that engaging with parents face 
to face is important. Officers noted that interventions have to be sustainable. It is 
probably they will provide general information and more intensive support and 
intervention for children and families with weight problems.  

 
6.30 Sharon Donno, the head teacher representative, commented that weight data for 3 

year olds would be helpful. Officers commented that the government started to 
require 4 years ago that children are measured at reception and year 6. This is a 
national programme and enables comparisons to be made. The potential for 
undertaking a local weighing programme using school nurses was discussed. The 
Chair indicated that this could be considered as a scrutiny recommendation. 

 
6.31 The head teacher representative commented that when her Children’s centre had 

offered courses on cooking, shopping and nutrition it had a very low take up by 
parents and carers. However when much of the course was rebranded and a 
professional chef employed to deliver the content parents found this much more 
appealing. Making the course more aspirational proved very effective. 

 
6.32 Members asked about provision of sports in schools. Officers commented that 

many schools have moved away from an afternoon of sports. The national 
curriculum changed the priorities of schools and sports provision is now much 
more the choice of heads. Officers commented that for sports to be effective it’s 
needs to be fun and of high quality; coaches need the right level of skills. Training 
local people to be sports leaders has been effective.  

 
6.33 A members commented that she would like to see more time set aside for sports 

and  she also expressed concern that school recreation time is used as a time to 
punish children and that this has an adverse impact on activity levels. Officers 
commented that there is now much more recognition of the importance of an active 
playtime and outdoor play is now increasingly encouraged. The ‘Superstars 
Challenge’ ensured that children received 3 hours of sports provision and that 
included 45 minutes of constant cardio-vascular movement. Time spent travelling 
to and from the activity was not counted, whereas this usually can be. It did take 
time to negotiate this level of provision with schools as this was 3 hours less 
academic time delivered.  

 
6.34 Members commented that the combination of the ‘Superstars Challenge’ with the 

free school meal offer might be the most effective strategy. Officers commented 
that this could be a positive development. The Chair indicated that the committee 
may consider this as a recommendation.  

 
 
 
 

5



6 
 
 

Education and Children's Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee - Tuesday 16 November 2010 
 

RESOLVED 
 
The committee agreed they would continue to pursue the above topic by: 
 

i) Utilising social media via Southwark websites to gather the views of residents & 
community. A draft list of questions will be circulated, and then websites such as 
the SE1 and the East Dulwich Forum will be contacted to see if they are willing to 
host a discussion. A short survey will also be produced.  

 
ii)  Requesting that Bacons PE and School Sports Partnership send a report to 

Scrutiny based on their data and the impact of the sports programme in 
combating obesity and maintaining a healthy weight. 

 
iii) Requesting that officers make recommendations on the review topic so these 

can feed into the final scrutiny report. 
 
 

7. TRAINING  
 

 7.1 The Committee discussed safeguarding training for members. It was agreed that in 
house training was the strong preference of members. This will be fed back to 
relevant officers with a view to arranging for the New Year. 

 

8. SOUTHWARK YOUTH COUNCIL  
 

 8.1 Southwark Youth Council will be invited to attend the January committee meeting. 
 

9. WORK PROGRAMME  
 

 9.1 The new independent safeguarding chair has been invited to the January meeting. 
The annual safeguarding report will be presented at this meeting.  

 
9.2 There is a safeguarding conference late January and details of this will be 

circulated to members. 
 

  
 
 CHAIR:  
 
 
 DATED:  
 
 

  
 

 
 

6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



SYC Agenda for Scrutiny discussion 

Key questions:  

• Is the council still aiming to achieve the goals set out in the Children and 
Young People’s Plan? 

• What actions are being taken to make sure the cuts don’t hit young people 
harder than other parts of the community? 

• Does the council genuinely want young people to be involved in decision 
making in Southwark? 

We want action plans. We think that there should be a broken down version of what 
you plan to do, as your ideas are currently too vague, that the young people in the 
borough can see and comment on. 

How do you plan to get the young peoples’ verdict throughout the 3 years that the 
plan is carried out in? Youth participation is vital in this respect. We want to be 
consulted at the beginning, at the end and throughout the 3 year delivery of the 
plan. 

Quarterly reports to the SYC on how the plan is progressing and how it’s being run, 
so that we can report back to the young people in the borough on how Southwark is 
working for them.  

We think that one of the best ways to get more input from the young people of 
Southwark is to take ideas and developments to the schools and colleges.  We want 
you to send the progress information to the key personnel in schools in the borough, 
the headteachers, deputy heads, heads of citizenship and directly to the school 
councils. That way, you could integrate the plan with school activities and the 
curriculum. School councils would be updated on the plan and encouraged to consult 
with the other pupils and give their input on it.  This would give the school council a 
real role and responsibility and therefore strengthen their position in the school as 
well as promote participation. This could also be a chance to develop proper 
citizenship regimes in schools. Schools in Southwark do have citizenship courses but 
it’s a known fact that they aren’t carried out in a satisfactory way in some schools. 
There should be a minimum standard as to how they should be carried out.  This is a 
chance to make sure that the Southwark Youth participation strategy is put in place, 
starting with the decision makers in schools.  

We also discussed the idea of workshops and getting people that have experience 
with the problems in the borough to come into schools and bring the social issues of 
the borough straight to the young people. We feel that some of the priorities in the 
plan, would be dealt with more effectively if they were done in workshops run by, 

Agenda Item 5
17



for example,  ex gang members and young mothers and young fathers. With these 
workshops and visits, the young people could decide how they would deal with the 
problems in the borough as if they were experiencing them for themselves. We hear 
a lot about the issues in society on a national scale but these issues are happening 
right around us and need to be brought right to us.  

To get more of a community feeling of involvement, we discussed the idea of having 
incentives for levels of youth participation in the community. If you’re heavily 
involved in your community, you could be rewarded for it or get accreditation. This is 
bound to get more young people more interested in being more involved in their 
area. Also, for different organizations such as schools and youth clubs, there could 
be youth participation ratings for how much the young people there, actually do in 
the community.  

With all of these changes happening in the borough, we had the idea of there being 
a text service that would alert young people in the borough of new changes and 
happenings in regards to the plan. This would keep young people ‘in the loop’ in 
regards to what is actually being done in the borough that, ultimately, affects them. 
The text messaging service could also be set up in a way that it is free for the young 
people to reply to the texts, making it easier for most young people in the borough 
to give their input. It also gets to people that may not necessarily be in education 
and wouldn’t be able to get this information otherwise from a school or something 
similar.  

In conclusion, we think that the key to making this plan work is to have  a strong 
emphasis on young people’s involvement. Not only involvement in the programmes 
and services that will be delivered to young people, but also involvement in 
monitoring and evaluating the progress of the plan. This will give you rapid feedback 
on how well things are working and also allow you to make changes and adjustments 
quickly, so that you don’t end up wasting money by pouring money into programmes 
that don’t work because its in the wrong place, at the wrong time and therefore not 
reaching the right target group. 

18



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   1  

 
 
 

Southwark Safeguarding Children Board 
 

Annual Report 
March 2011 

 

Agenda Item 6
19



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   2  

 
 
 
 

Contents  
 
 

Section  Pg 

Welcome for Chris Davies – Independent Chair of 
Southwark Safeguarding Children Board  

 

1.0.  Introduction    

2.0. Southwark’s Safeguarding Context (to be 
inserted) 

 

3.0. Local Priority Areas for Safeguarding   

4.0 Governance and accountability arrangements  

5.0 Assessment of safeguarding policies, procedures 
and training  

 

6.0 Monitoring and evaluation and quality assurance 
activity 

 

7.0 Serious case reviews  

8.0 Child death overview panel (to be inserted)  

 

20



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   3  

Southwark Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2010/11 
 
Welcome by Chris Davies, independent chair, Southwark Safeguarding Children Board 
 
I have now been the chair of the Southwark Safeguarding Children Board (SSCB) for just 
over a year. I have very much enjoyed getting to know the borough and its people, and I am 
grateful for the generous welcome I have received. As well as the formal meetings, I have 
visited the police station, a primary and secondary school, all three major hospital trusts 
serving the borough, Sunshine House, the children’s’ social care teams, and met with the 
PCT Executive among many others. 
 
I have also met with the Speakerbox representatives of looked after children, the cabinet 
member with lead responsibility (before and after the election), case conference chairs, the 
designated nurse and doctor, the lead GP and voluntary sector representatives, as well as 
walking her ward with a borough councillor. I have met several times with the director of 
children’s services and with the assistant director for social care. I recently met with the chair 
of Lambeth SCB, together with our board managers, to explore areas of possible 
collaboration. 
 
I was asked to carry out a review of the effectiveness of the SSCB at the start of my tenure, 
in light of changing expectations, and building on earlier work and the 
PricewaterhouseCooper audit. I am grateful for the openness and willingness to consider 
change which colleagues displayed. In very brief summary, I found a board which had been 
very effective and won widespread respect for its work in advising, briefing and training the 
workforce, and in building inter-agency understanding and working together. I recommended 
ways in which we could do more to assure the quality of safeguarding work across all our 
services, and to build a “learning culture” around child protection. My report is available 
should you wish to read it. Action on the changes which I recommended is included in this 
report. 
 
There is no doubt that expectations of us in child protection are rightly very high, and there is 
no room for complacency. So you will see that we have not simply described our work in this 
report. Rather, we have undertaken a self-evaluation, and identified improvement priorities. 
We welcome your feedback on whether we have got that right.  
 
This report, then, looks forward as well as back, and in doing that, I want to highlight a few 
features that are particularly important to me. First, that we sustain an efficient engine-room 
to drive the board’s agenda. That means our small and very able and effective executive 
team, and the new configuration of sub-groups which we have just agreed. The team must 
have the capacity to deliver the board’s reasonable expectations and it is vital that those sub-
groups now move forward urgently and purposefully with their key agendas. We know very 
well, across the UK, that local SCBs can only be effective where the responsibility and the 
workload is shared across all the agencies, and not left to a small core of people in children’s 
social care. 
 
Second, that we consolidate our new approach to assurance reporting. The executive of the 
board now meets three times a year to receive, consider and challenge reports from each of 
our partner agencies on how well they are fulfilling their child protection duties (“Section 11”). 
At the first of these meetings, our NHS colleagues set a very high bar in terms of the 
diligence which they showed in their management arrangements, and in reporting to us. Our 
aim is that that will be reflected across the services. 
 
Third, that we position ourselves well to respond to the changes which are bound to follow 
the Munro Report. It seems that local SCBs will continue to have a leadership and assurance 
role, perhaps enhanced. There will be less emphasis on guidance, process and targets, and 
more on quality of professional practice in the frontline. I think Southwark is well-placed to 
adapt to this direction of change, and I hope we will embrace it with enthusiasm. I have been 

21



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   4  

very much struck by the commitment to high standards in our services, and to supporting 
excellence in practice through training and supervision. We will need to build on that strong 
base, and move up another gear. I hope that we will be able to construct opportunities for 
professionals to learn from reflecting together on their own practice, which is much more 
likely to transform quality than the top-down approaches which government has insisted on 
for too long. 
 
Of course, not everything in the garden is rosy. All our constituent agencies face major 
budget challenges. In the climate we are in, no services can claim immunity from the need to 
make savings. I have made clear my expectation that all services will look very carefully at 
the implications for children’s safety of any cuts they are making, and examine the broader 
implication with their partners. We must avoid unilateral cuts, and the serious danger that the 
cumulative effect of them across services is to amplify the risks. We are also expecting major 
organisational changes (as in almost any year!), especially in our local NHS. I have been 
impressed by the care which Guy’s and St Thomas’ Trust is devoting to assuming 
responsibility for community services. But we will lose the whole-system leadership which the 
PCT has brought, and we  must protect the “designated” roles, which are vital to an effective 
local SCB, and build stronger relationships with GPs, who will become the shapers of local 
services through commissioning. 
 
I can report that the accountabilities for leadership in safeguarding in Southwark are clear 
and effective. I account to the director of children’s services and the council for the work of 
the board. But the safeguarding work of all agencies (including the council and its children’s 
services) is scrutinised by the board. We make our report to Southwark’s Children and 
Families’ Trust, but the SSCB also scrutinises and challenges the trust and its Children and 
Young People’s Plan, to ensure that it deals effectively with safeguarding issues. The trust 
and the board work together to ensure that we are always clear where leadership lies for 
particular workstreams. Learning from national evaluations of local SCB effectiveness, the 
SSCB takes the lead in the narrower areas of safeguarding, perhaps still better called child 
protection, whilst the trust leads on the broader safeguarding agenda, advised and 
challenged by us. 
 
I must express my thanks to Southwark for extending to me the privilege of being involved in 
this way in safeguarding children in Southwark. My thanks also to all those colleagues who 
have been so willing to work with me, and especially to the director of children’s services for 
her support. And to Elaine Allegretti and her team, especially for their work on the self-
evaluation and this report. To all the board members for their commitment and hard work, 
which is so often on top of heavy workloads in their employing agencies. But most of all to 
Malcolm Ward, Tina Hawkins and Nina Scott in the board’s executive team, who bring great 
experience, knowledge, skill and enthusiasm, without which my job would be very much 
more difficult.  
 
Lastly, I intend to keep applying this key test: “So what difference does all this make to the 
lives of children and families in the borough of Southwark?” Measuring outcomes is much 
more easily talked about than done. But the discipline of the question is important in itself, 
and we must look for practical means of finding out what really does make it easier for 
people in the front-line to be most effective in keeping children safe. 
 
Chris Davies, 
Independent Chair, Southwark Safeguarding Children Board 
 

22



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   5  

 
1.0 Introduction 
 
The outcome of Lord Laming’s most recent review of safeguarding following the death of 
Baby P recommended that “Local Safeguarding Children Boards should report to the 
Children’s Trust Board and publish an annual report on the effectiveness of safeguarding in 
the local area”. The purpose of the Annual Safeguarding Board Report (ASBR) is to support 
improved practice and best use of local board arrangements in a local area. Guidance 
requires the report to be an honest assessment of the local safeguarding arrangements and 
identify clearly the challenges to be addressed within a local area to improve outcomes for 
children and young people.  
 
Locally, we have used our local framework of self evaluation to undertake the report, which 
has been widely consulted upon and used a broad range of information provided by partners. 
The report covers the period April 2009 to March 2011, and is due for sign off by the 
Children’s Trust Board in March 2011. It provides an outline work programme for the SSCB 
for the coming 12 months and will form the basis of future self evaluation of the SSCB’s 
work.  The ASBR self evaluates the following areas:  
 

- Local priority areas for safeguarding  
- Governance and accountability arrangements  
- Assessment of safeguarding policies, procedures and training  
- Monitoring and evaluation and quality assurance activity  
- Serious case reviews  
- Child death overview panel (awaiting section) 

 
In reviewing each of these areas, the ASBR has identified a number of strengths, areas for 
development and recommendations by the independent chair to support system wide 
safeguarding improvements. However, priorities for particular local focus over the coming 12 
months are set out in section 3 of the report, as well as independent chair recommendations 
made throughout, often pertaining to particularly partners or aspects of the board’s work.   
 
The role and priorities of the SSCB 
 
The purpose of the SSCB is to develop, support, co-ordinate and assure the quality of 
activities in Southwark which protect children and young people from significant harm, and 
also to advise on the broader challenge of keeping all children and young people as safe as 
they can reasonably be. 
 
The methods which we use to achieve that purpose are -to develop, agree and promote 
guidance and procedures which will support good practice in partner agencies -to 
commission, and sometimes deliver, training, to the same end -to conduct and ensure 
lessons are learned from Reviews in cases of serious injury or death of children which may 
have resulted from abuse or neglect -to capture and promote learning from reviewing the 
circumstances of all child deaths -to encourage inter-professional and inter-agency net-
working -to assure the effectiveness of safeguarding activity in all Agencies in membership of 
the Board. 
 
Based on the evaluation of our strengths and weaknesses which we have summarised in this 
Report, our priorities for the coming year will be 

• to consolidate and embed our new approach to the assurance of safeguarding (with 
all Agencies reporting on their S.11 

• responsibilities) 
• to continue to address the priorities identified in the "staying safe" part of the C and Y 

P Plan 
• to ensure that the revised sub-groups are working effectively to deliver the Board's 

agenda 

23



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   6  

• to adopt a commissioning role in training, based on sound needs analysis, and 
including quality assurance of delivery 

• to use an effective methodology to review those "near miss" cases which do not quite 
reach the SCR threshold 

• to lead consideration of what follows from the current Munro review of child protection 
in England, and the implementation of consequent changes 

• in the light of any changes arising from the Munro review, to review the capacity of 
the Board to ensure that it is sufficient to fulfil its key responsibilities 

• to build on the established network of designated safeguarding lead persons within 
Agencies, encouraging their effective use by practitioners, contributing to their 
professional development, and encouraging planning for their succession 

• to work with partner Agencies to try to ensure that, where functions move as a result 
of re-organisation or commissioning decisions, S.11 responsibilities are clearly 
defined and assured 

• to build effective relationships with the new leadership structures emerging from the 
NHS changes, especially with Community Health and the GPs 

• to emphasise the need for a sharp focus on safeguarding through the potential 
disruptions of organisational changes and spending cut-backs 

• to welcome and facilitate the distinctive contribution of our new Lay Members 
• to find ways of listening better to the voices and views of children and young people 

about safeguarding in Southwark 
• to facilitate and support cultural change in our partner organisations which will move 

us away from over-reliance on over-detailed procedures towards transformational 
learning and development for front-line professionals, and from over-use of referrals 
which shift responsibility, towards conversations which share it, and through which we 
agree how we can all work together to best help families and protect children. 

 
Our focus will increasingly be on facilitating the behaviours and relationships which will 
safeguard children, and less on procedures and structures. It is adults acting appropriately 
which keeps children safe. 
 
 

24



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   7  

2.0 Southwark’s Safeguarding Context  
 
The profile of safeguarding in Southwark shows very high levels of need, coupled with a 
range of complexities arising from the local environment such as cultural safeguarding 
practices, child trafficking and families with no recourse to public funds.  
 
Nationally, there are approximately 382,000 children in need (CIN), of which 3737 reside in 
Southwark, representing a 20% increase against figures for 2009. This is the fifth highest 
figure in London with Haringey, Lambeth, Newham and Croydon only slightly higher. Our 
overall CIN population shows ‘family in acute distress’ as the most common category, 
although for those that come into public care, abuse and neglect remains the most prevalent 
category, with family dysfunction and family in acute stress also featuring quite significantly.  
 
Southwark continues to have high rates of referrals to its chid protection service with some 
4900 referrals made a year to its referral and assessment service. Of these Southwark 
undertakes around 3000 initial assessments of children thought to be at risk of harm a year. 
There continues to be an increase in the number of children subject to child protection plans, 
and in March 2010, at any given time there is around 330 children subject to plan, and on 
average around 400-450 children subject to plans throughout a year. Some of these had a 
plan previously (58 children in 2010) and two thirds have plan for three months or more. As a 
borough, we commence care proceedings for around 80 children a year, where it is 
assessed that children need to enter the care system as they are not safe enough at home or 
within the community. Often a reflecting a younger cohort, these children generally live with 
parents with acute or chronic difficulties including substance misuse, domestic violence, 
learning difficulties and/or disabilities and mental health problems. 
 
Southwark numbers of children in care is generally above that of statistical neighbours.  The 
trend for the past few years has been of decline, but figures are once again on the rise and 
currently standing at around 540. Analysis of trends of those entering care shows that of our 
current children in care population some 235 children entered into care at aged five or under 
(41.7%), of these some 89 of were under one (15.8%) and 145 (25.7%) were aged 13 or 
above at time of entry. Nearly one fifth of children are on interim care orders (102), with 65% 
of these under one, and many young people entering into care under voluntary Section 20 
orders.  
 
High risk families, where children are taken into care or subject to child protection plan often 
have multiple problems.  Families often have repeated involvement with children’s social 
care regarding safeguarding or caring concerns, local police and housing officers due to 
nuisance or criminal behaviour or domestic violence. In addition to local health and 
vulnerable adult services, due to learning disability, mental health and substance misuse. In 
most cases, family members will be unemployed and have little experience of life outside the 
benefits system. The prevalence of domestic violence locally is very high, and a risk factor in 
more than half of all cases. Another local dimension to safeguarding are those arising from 
the local environment.  Cultural safeguarding practices, including chastisement, private 
fostering and families where there is no recourse to public funds is very prevalent within our 
local system.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

25



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   8  

 
 
3.0 Local Priority Areas for Safeguarding 
 
Southwark demonstrates many examples of good practice in regard to safeguarding which 
have been validated by external evaluations including our joint area review (JAR), 
unannounced inspection of contact, referral and assessment, and independent health led 
safeguarding children improvement visit (SCIV). Overall, there is evidence of good 
engagement by partners and the community in addressing local safeguarding issues as well 
as delivering core requirements as set out by statutory guidance. In ensuring a culture of 
continuous improvement, self evaluation and performance management support 
identification and strategic leadership of cross-cutting areas for partnership improvement. 
These include how we address high prevalence of domestic abuse, strengthening 
relationships with key partners and tackling high numbers of poor quality and/or inappropriate 
referrals. This also provides strong foundations for how the SSCB going forward will take a 
leadership role in ensuring safeguarding remains paramount in a climate of large-scale 
budget cuts and fast-moving changes to the governance and policy landscape, such as 
changes to key partner infrastructures and the Munro Review.  
 
Strengths  

- Commitment and engagement by partners and the community around safeguarding 
issues, including building capacity in voluntary, community and faith groups to help 
keep children safe  

- Review of effectiveness of Board arrangements by independent chair, complemented 
by a self-evaluative approach to support strategic leadership of safeguarding 
arrangements  

 
Areas for development  

- Fewer children and families experiencing domestic abuse through less repeat 
victimisation and improvement in the safety and life chances for those children and 
families affected  

- Partnership improvements in the quality of referrals and understanding of thresholds  
- Reviewing and improving relationships and safeguarding practices of key partners 

within a changing governance landscape such as with GPs and schools  
- To provide leadership on safeguarding practice and arrangements in a climate of 

significant change in policy, governance and resources  
 
There is good engagement by partners and the community around safeguarding issues. The 
board is well attended by most partners who participate in a wide range of service 
development and delivery activities, both within and across organisations. The strong culture 
of partnership working and shared responsibility around safeguarding have been key to 

Story A 
“M is 12 years old and from West Africa. She lived with her mother, brothers and sisters 
in a small village, but they were very happy. M would walk miles to go to school, but she 
loved to learn and did very well. She hoped that one day she could train to be a nurse. 
 
“One day a lady came to the village to talk to M’s mother. She said “M is a very bright 
little girl, and she should be given a chance to have a good education. If you pay me, I 
will find M a good home in the UK where she will be well looked after and get the best 
education.” M’s mother wanted the best for her, so paid the lady everything she had.  
 
“M learned to cook and clean. She wasn’t allowed to play, or watch TV. She didn’t go to 
school. She was a slave. But there was no way to tell her mother who only found out 
about her progress through the lady. One day, when M was 17, she escaped the house 
and went to the authorities. The social worker had to undertake an age assessment, but 
she didn’t understand why.  

26



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   9  

supporting children at risk of harm, as recognised by our good JAR outcomes, no priority 
actions in our recent unannounced inspection, and most recently a favourable SCIV outcome 
which concluded an impressive approach to safeguarding in a context of a high volume of 
high-risk cases and some very challenging communities. There are well-developed links with 
the voluntary and community sector including a comprehensive free safeguarding training 
programme for the voluntary sector, relationship building with faith groups, and good 
progress on the appointment of lay members to the board. A key success of community work 
has been the strong local approach we now have to private fostering provision, where as a 
result of joint work and awareness raising, we have one of the highest notification rates in 
London. As the policy and governance landscape changes, the SSCB over the coming year 
will need to ensure it continually reviews arrangements for safeguarding compliance. For 
example, the strong links with the primary care trust (PCT) will change as it moves into a 
regional delivery arrangement and local GPs subsume the local health commissioning role. 
At present, links and governance between GPs and SSCB could benefit from further 
strengthening, and will need to be reviewed in light of forthcoming changes. Similarly, with 
schools, although there are very good links at present, as the implications of the education 
white paper take hold, the local authority will move to a strategic commissioner function and 
there will be a range of providers entering the education market through the inclusion of 
headteachers, private sector academies and free schools. The recent system-wide review of 
local governance arrangements by the SSCB’s independent chair provide a sound basis for 
responding to these changes (for further details see section on Governance and 
Accountability Arrangements). 
 
 

 
 
Ensuring “fewer children and families experience domestic abuse” is key priority of the 
Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP), which through widespread consultation with 
stakeholders and robust needs assessment identified this as a significant contributory factor 
of safeguarding needs in the borough. Domestic abuse also features as a recommendation 
with actions in Southwark’s last serious case review (SCR). In response to commitments in 
the CYPP and SCR, a joint review of the local approach to domestic abuse has been 
undertaken by the children’s trust and the Safer Southwark Partnership (SSP), our local 
crime reduction partnership. Through dialogue with a range of senior stakeholders, the 
review took a whole-system view of current commissioning and delivery arrangements 
including considerations of thresholds, pathways and risk management. A proposed, single, 
partnership-wide model that will underpin the recommissioning of provision is currently being 
considered by the children’s trust and the SSP for implementation from April 2011. This will 
provide a more targeted use of domestic abuse resources and specialisms to better support 
areas such as assessment of risk and support as part of agreed multi-agency plans, such as 
for those on a child protection plan. MAPPA will also be reconfigured with a stronger 
emphasis on perpetrators and enforcement, and a refocusing on the highest-risk cases.  
 
 
 

Story B - Survivor 
“Taken into care 6 years ago with 3 siblings. Mum had drug and alcohol issues. Pregnant 
– abusive relationships, partner got arrested, served a sentence, removed child from at 
risk register. When partner released went through domestic violence – placed in refuge. 
Close to mother, trying to get love from mother, build a relationship but failed. Moved to 
another refuge in a different part of country. Worries child may have Asperger’s or 
autism. Brought back to Southwark to a different area. Settled. A consultant has agreed 
to assess son. Support network for her in place. Support network for child.” 

27



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   10  

 
 
Improving the quality of referrals, including reducing the number of inappropriate referrals 
remains a key priority for the SSCB. The last unannounced inspection found that high 
numbers of inappropriate referrals are made by agencies to the referral and assessment 
service that result in no further action and lead to a deterioration in the timeliness of initial 
assessments. Southwark has one of the higher rates of contact in London although it 
remains in line with statistical neighbours such as Hackney and Tower Hamlets. Analysis of 
contact and referral conversion rates against last year shows that contacts are decreasing. 
Improvements in particular agencies are attributed to the range of joint working 
arrangements put in place which have in all cases included an increased focus on improving 
the quality and appropriateness of referral. For example, a relatively large proportion of 
referrals stem from hospitals, which provide the highest number of referrals for children 
under five, and are important partners in our pre-birth work. As Southwark has no general 
hospital provision within the borough, work has been undertaken to establish close liaison 
with Guy’s and St Thomas’ and Kings’ hospitals, particularly around pre-birth assessments. 
Work with colleagues in hospitals has started to improve the understanding of the referral 
process by ensuring that the designated nurses take a central role in mediating inter-agency 
referral forms. Moreover, threshold management and quality of referrals around pre-birth 
cases has seen marked improvement as a result of the pre-birth team and joint working 
arrangements.    
 
In order to respond to improvements in partners’ understanding of thresholds to access 
safeguarding services, thresholds have been revised and simplified. This is accompanied by 
work to change the local referral process in line with the preliminary Munro Review of Child 
Protection1 to overcome a strong local culture of referral, to one of facilitating more dialogue 
between professionals prior to referral. Analysis by contact, referral and assessment shows a 
heavy reliance on the use of written referrals (well over 50%), too often with poor-quality 
information, which after further investigations leads to no further action. In response, 
transition to a new approach will commence in January 2011 which will better secure a 
professional dialogue prior to referral. Furthermore, in line with SCR findings, developmental 
work with designated leads is taking place to help them champion in their own agencies 
thresholds and quality of referral issues. Under development are a range of measures to 
support performance management of this change, including data to support agencies to help 
address where designated lead professionals need to be better utilised as part of a referral 
and threshold management process.  

                                                 
1 http://www.education.gov.uk/munroreview/downloads/TheMunroReviewofChildProtection-Part%20one.pdf  

Story C 
“Initial engagement ‘A’ taken to hospital suffering multiple injuries, said dad has caused 
them. Two other children in family. Police called. Children were taken into police 
protection. Father arrested. Social services involvement which assisted with wider family 
assistance. It became apparent dad’s partner/mother of children had suffered server 
domestic violence. As father would beat her up but then turn on children. He only hit 
them after he had finished hitting her… so she thought.  
 
“All children initially pleased with extended family, who were not event aware of reason’s 
mum left. All children received medical attention, A having more injuries but other too, it 
transpired also needed medical attention for minor injuries. Father arrested and went to 
court and eventually went to prison. Children met family members they were not aware of 
as father had beaten them for years. 
 
“As started father went to prison, children received proper medical attention, A was 
attending school regularly, other two children attending pre school and nursery. Due to 
social service involvement, and liaising with extended family children’s mother (who had 
left a few years ago) was traced and mother and children reunited. They were re housed 
away from area.  
 

28



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   11  

 
 

 
 
A key priority for the SSCB this year will be how it supports and challenges agencies’ 
safeguarding practice in times of significant change and budget reductions. Both the local 
authority and its partners will experience cuts of well over 20% to their budgets, not including 
a wide range of grants that are coming to an end. Locally, these have provided a resource to 
improve safeguarding capacity at specialist, early intervention and universal levels. Large-
scale changes in the governance of organisations will also accompany budget cuts such as 
changes to the statutory nature of the children’s trust and the development of new strategic 
commissioning partnerships such as the GPs, schools and health and wellbeing boards. In 
regard to the future direction of safeguarding policy and practice, Professor Eileen Munro is 
currently reviewing the child protection system on behalf of the coalition government, with 
findings due in April 2011. Interim findings by Munro state that current processes and 
procedures have become barriers to social workers being able to spend time undertaking 
direct work with vulnerable children and families and hindering their ability to make informed 
judgements around risk. Recommendations arising from Munro are likely to centre around a 
number of areas including current procedures including targets and timescales, reducing 
emphasis on identifying families at risk at the expense of supporting families at risk, serious 
case reviews and professional and organisational development. The SSCB will need to 
ensure that work of the board is reviewed and reflects the requirements of the outcomes of 
Munro in its role in system leadership of safeguarding practice and training.  
 

Story D 
“A came to my attention when she was 12 and in year 8. Many of her teachers said her 
behaviour was dreadful and sometimes strange. She was often dirty and smelly and the 
other girl in her class teased her. She started seeing the learning mentor, and one day 
told her that her mother had severely beaten her after a phone call home from school 
about her behaviour. A referral was made to social services, mum was interviewed and 
asked to sign a contract agreeing not to beat A when on her own with her mentor, or in a 
small group.  A was delightful and her behaviour appropriate. She showed empathy with 
others and kindness. 
 
“Problems in class continued; observation showed that A was still being persistently 
bullied by classmates, and continued to behave poorly. A was put on a pastoral support 
plan and withdrawn from same classes to the behaviour support classroom, while there 
she said, in front of pupils and staff, that when in Nigeria and in UK, she had been 
sexually abused. Another referral was made to social services, who found that A was 
sharing a room with her mother and little sister in a house with a transient population. 
Mum said that A was lying and shouldn’t be believed. Eventually mum gave up her job 
involving shift work and was around more; social services closed case. No evidence of 
sexual abuse has been found.  
 
“A works with a governor of the school who comes in once a week and does art projects 
with her; she is a talented artist and a bright girl. She is still bullied in class and despite 
being made aware of observations, including a new one by the Educational Psychologist, 
doesn’t seem to see her as a victim. I (and others) am still very worried about A- she is 
smelly again, she doesn’t have lunch money (£5) a week; she is unhappy. Other students 
report that she is having a hard time. We invite mum in to see us about our concerns; she 
doesn’t respond. The head of house has received a request for information from another 
school: mum wants to move her school. We plan to have a CAF meeting: we have been 
monitoring A every 6 weeks at multi agency meetings. 

29



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   12  

4.0 Governance and accountability arrangements 
 
The SSCB is a well-established and ambitious partnership, which has provided visible 
community and professional leadership to safeguard and promote the wellbeing of 
Southwark’s children and young people. The SSCB promotes regular dialogue between 
partners underpinned by a shared vision and priorities, and its work has led to system-wide 
improvements in community and professional safeguarding practices. The strengths and 
maturity of the partnership support a culture of external challenge and continuous 
improvement in both the board’s own development and the work of partners. Further work, 
however, is needed to ensure regular and systematic involvement of service users in the 
board’s work. In order to secure better outcomes from the local partnership, the board 
commissioned a review of its governance by internal external auditors 
PricewaterhouseCooper (PwC) and the board’s new independent chair. As a result, the 
board has introduced improved, smarter ways of working, and strengthened its ability to 
challenge and hold partners to account in regard to local safeguarding practice, section 11 
compliance and overall improvements in safeguarding outcomes for children and young 
people. A reconfiguration of the board, including the successful introduction of the new model 
in autumn 2010, provides a strong foundation for the board to meet both current and future 
challenges including assuring compliance with safeguarding requirements by partners, 
delivery of local priorities such as those within the CYPP or falling from inspection, outcomes 
of the Munroe review and the transformation of safeguarding provision needed in order to 
safely deliver system-wide efficiency targets.  
 
Strengths 

- The SSCB provides ambitious and visible community and professional leadership to 
safeguard and promote the wellbeing of children, underpinned by a shared and clear 
vision and priorities for improvement. There is regular dialogue between the SSCB 
and wider partners to deliver system-wide improvements  

- There is well-established partnership working and communication across key 
partners, including voluntary and community sector, which are leading to practice 
improvements and increased community capacity to keep children safe.  

- There is effective involvement of key partners such as health, where as a result there 
is good assurance measures in place to ensure children and young people are 
safeguarded adequately  

- The recent review of governance and changes it has introduced provide a solid 
foundation to further strengthen challenge and accountability in regard to partners’ 
safeguarding practice and achieve the step change need to meet the requirements of 
Working Together guidance 

 
Priorities for improvements 

- Further improve robustness of challenge and accountability of partners through the 
systematic review of section 11 compliance, and to drive improvement in frontline 
practice around local priorities for improvement  

- Building on good work so far, to ensure regular and systematic involvement of service 
users in the strategic review of services, policies and procedures to help build 
capacity in the community to keep children safe 

 
The SSCB continues to provide ambitious, visible leadership to safeguard and promote the 
wellbeing of children locally. It provided good leadership in determining borough-wide 
priorities for safeguarding within the new CYPP, working jointly with a wide range of 
stakeholders. This shared vision for safeguarding services includes reshaping how we work 
with families in most need, building capacity in the local safeguarding system to meet 
community safeguarding needs, and work with partners to reconfigure services and improve 
outcomes for children and young people at risk of harm due to domestic abuse.  
 
In its local leadership role for safeguarding children, the board is represented on the 
children’s trust, and safeguarding issues raised by the board is a standing item of children’s 

30



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   13  

trust business. This regular dialogue enables the SSCB to exercise its scrutiny role and hold 
the children’s trust to account, while also ensuring partners are aware and address new and 
continuing pressures on safeguarding services. The SSCB works closely with key 
partnerships, including the local strategic partnership, Southwark Safeguarding Adults 
Partnership, the Safer Southwark Partnership and other partnerships groups, to ensure that 
safeguarding children is integral to their work. In addition, joint work with the Lambeth 
Safeguarding Children Board has supported cross-borough working including sharing the 
child death review panel and coordinating work on areas of shared interest, such as 
safeguarding arrangements in agencies which serve both local authority areas, for example 
health trusts. Examples of joint work include a joint section 11 audit for agencies serving both 
boroughs to support shared assurance of compliance with the requirements of section 11 of 
the Children Act 2004.  
 
An example of effective leadership by the SSCB and children’s services was the approach 
taken to address significant deficits in the referral and assessment team in 2009, where there 
were significant vacancies and capacity risks for the local system in meeting safeguarding 
demands. Partners took decisive action through a refreshed approach to workforce 
development that led to a successful overseas campaign, the appointment of key staff to all 
19 vacancies and improved frontline capacity. An authority-wide organisational and 
development offer also supported staff in their transition into UK life and social work practice, 
including support with housing and a tailored training and development programme.  
 
In developing its strategic priorities for the CYPP, the board supported an innovative 
‘storytelling’ programme of consultation and engagement of key stakeholders. More than 
1,000 children, young people, parents, carers, staff and practitioners responded – all 
providing stories which brought fresh insights into what we could do to improve services. 
These insights, coupled with a comprehensive needs assessment and dialogue with strategic 
leaders, led to the development of shared local safeguarding priorities, particularly those in 
regard to a more family based approach to safeguarding and reconfiguring provision to better 
support those at risk of harm from domestic abuse, which appears to prevalent locally.  
 
In providing visible community and professional leadership in regard to safeguarding, the 
SCCB has worked steadily to raise the profile of safeguarding. This has included raising 
awareness of risks and signs of abuse, and when and how to share information, as well as 
promoting community awareness of safeguarding issues such as private fostering, child-on-
child abuse and gang violence through training, information and guidance such as a 
parenting handbook and practice guidance. In 2009, the board commissioned from the 
authority’s communications team a borough-wide publicity campaign to raise public 
awareness of child abuse and how to report it. This involved creating bespoke materials 
distributed across the borough including schools, libraries and GP surgeries, backed by 
articles in the authority’s residents’ magazine and local press. An evaluation of the campaign, 
through a community survey of 1,000 face-to-face interviews, found a significant increase in 
the percentage of respondents who would refer a child they thought at risk and a similar 
increase in the percentage who would contact the NSPCC, whose details featured in the 
publicity material.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   14  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The SSCB continues to provide strong leadership in the development of key partnership 
working arrangements and communication to enable improvements in frontline practice to 
address local safeguarding issues. The board’s partnership approach to safeguarding 
ensures blanket, as well as targeted, support to individual organisations to help manage 
partnership-wide risks to safeguarding. For example, there is a wide range of joint working 
arrangement to address identified high risk areas, such as those arising from serious case 
review or audit.  
 
The SSCB supported the introduction of substance misuse and mental health teams in 
specialist and generic maternity services, and a senior social work practitioner from referral 
and assessment based in the hospital to address issues arising around vulnerable parents. 
In addition, a senior manager from the London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust has 
been seconded to offer consultation sessions to children’s social care staff to support risk 
management and decision-making. There are also arrangements to provide mentoring 
support to social workers in the Maudsley mother and baby unit to further support 
safeguarding practice. Children’s social care and adult mental health, substance misuse, and 
physical and learning difficulty services now jointly assess and support families.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Story E - My gang, my family 
“Referral received via school that a number of boys were developing gangs within 
the school, intimidating peers and taking property. Our potential Gang Bangers 
were 8-9yrs old. The area they lived in was known for multiple gang activity so a lot 
of this behaviour was learned and offered immediate dividends. Our team (gangs-
youth offending team) was called in to deliver a number of group presentations and 
individual 1:1 sessions. As part of the latter I met up with one boy’s parents who 
were very disturbed to hear about their son’s behaviour, especially as it went 
against their religious and social/cultural norms.  
 
“We invited the parents to participate in a parenting group (voluntary) and despite 
initial reluctance they became active participants. The individual work with their son 
looked at issues such as: consequential thinking, who/why join gangs, legislation in 
terms of sentencing powers, letters from prisoners encouraging others not to join 
gangs, joint enterprise, criminal records and impact on future as well as the use of 
some shock imagery in terms of weapons (gun/knife) and the damage they can 
have on the body.  
 
“Whilst my story does not have the fairy tale ending, I am aware that disruptive 
behaviour within the school has reduced (boys will be boys), he is conscious about 
his peers/friends but aware that his brother is part of a known gang. Maybe a seed 
has been planted for the future, seed for change.” 
 

32



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   15  

 
 
Strong professional links between local acute hospital trusts and the PCT, including South 
London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust, have also been facilitated in response to 
practice improvements identified for this area. The designated nurse now attends the trust 
safeguarding children board meetings at the acute hospitals, and also meets bi-monthly with 
each of the named nurses from the provider trusts to review and implement changes to 
practice based on issues arsing from cases. The designated and named professionals for 
safeguarding children also now collaborate across Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham and 
the wider London and surrounding areas. 
 
The board’s sub-groups, which carries out the detailed work of the board, have undertaken 
robust work in investigating and improving safeguarding practice across partner agencies. 
The child-on-child abuse sub-group, for example, oversaw the implementation of national 
guidance on safeguarding young people who are vulnerable to sexual exploitation. An inter-
agency panel now meets regularly to review risk and agree service plans for this small, but 
high-risk group, of young people. The trafficking group, meanwhile, led a pilot project to 
improve the identification and subsequent service to children who may have been trafficked, 
backed by a suite of materials, training and a borough-wide awareness campaign. A member 
of the sub-group, employed in the council’s housing service, is a member of a national 
steering committee and continues to input our local experience into the development of 
national materials. An audit, which identified that 13 children had been assessed in the eight 
months to April, found good evidence of inter-agency working and use of specialist 
consultants in children’s services, and recommended further steps to ensure better use of 
the national referral system and toolkit. 
 

Story F - I’m really worried 
“Y started school at 4. He would bite and kick. Mum dropped him and ran. He would not 
cooperate and would have tantrums. This continued as he moved up the school. We 
talked to mum many times. She and dad were separated and she wouldn’t allow dad to 
see Y and his older brother. There were many different boyfriends. Mum is an ex user of 
heroin and she drinks. Both children seemed clean and looked after but Y was always 
defiant, combative and moody. His brother X was quiet and withdrawn. Mum then went 
back on to heroin. 
 
“The school counselled mum who could not admit to herself that her chaotic home 
lifestyle was impacting on both boys. There was not always food in the house and both 
boys had to get themselves up and to school. The older brother was acting as carer and 
head of household (he was 10yrs old). The younger Y was afraid to come to school as he 
was so worried about what his mum might do. The school persuaded mum to ask for help 
in a residential detox unit then arranged for a placement (temporary) with a family friend 
in another school. We also paid for after school care for both boys while mum was away.  
 
“After detox things were better for a while. Dad came back into the picture and both 
parents seemed to want to work together. However it soon broke down and arguments 
began again. Y was sent to live with dad. It didn’t last. The school has supported both 
parents, arranging support and advice sessions in school help. We have arranged family 
counselling and CAMHS [child and adolescent mental health services] plus in-school 
behaviour support for Y.  
 
“Mum is using again, the arguments continue. There is no more residential detox 
available. Both boys are looking pale and ill. The police were involved with an ‘incident’ 
with the family recently but can’t tell us what it was. Y looks terrible, he is quiet and low 
and over compliant in school – most unlike him. I am really worried but have run out of 
ideas. The family have gone through many layers of social service help. I don’t know 
what to do next. How do I protect this child when they’ve had all the services going, but 
the situation is worse than ever. I’m really worried.”  
 

33



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   16  

The SSCB holds an annual stakeholders’ conference to set inter-agency priorities for the 
year, promote the board’s work and hear the views of stakeholders. The annual conference 
is also used to showcase a particular safeguarding theme. There is good evidence that 
children, young people and their families participate in decisions regarding their individual 
support. Safeguarding services routinely involve families in assessment, evidence shows that 
75% of families subject to a child protection plan contribute to the decisions and plans 
regarding their support. All children and young people are seen on their own and where 
appropriate their views are taken into consideration when being assessed for services, and 
always sought in the course of section 47 investigations. Young people are also involved in 
the work of the board, for example the local children in care council (CiCC) plays a key role 
in the development and delivery of the annual stakeholders’ conference and the review of the 
board. In supporting a culture of external challenge, there is also regular dialogue between 
the CiCC and the independent chair to help drive practice improvements. As one example, 
young people raised the issue of care leavers who are about to become parents being 
referred as a matter of course for a pre-birth assessment. The chair referred this to the Head 
of Social Work Improvement, whose review led to a change in practice, so that assessments 
are now carried out based on risk rather than the previous blanket approach.  
 
Partners continue to look at family based approaches to managing children at risk and 
supporting families to find solutions. Over the past year, there were 107 family group 
conferences, and there have continued to be good rates of parents attending child protection 
conferences, with some 755 family members and 164 children attending. The quality 
assurance unit is leading on increasing the number of young people given the opportunity to 
present their views to conference, as well as supporting young people to attend case 
conferences where appropriate. Many who have child protection plans also have individual 
counsellors or mentors in school and this is another means by which young people are able 
to have their wishes and feelings heard. In its ongoing review of its governance, the SSCB is 
investigating how the voice of children, parents and community groups can be enhanced on 
the board. It will also be appointing a local parent to the board in line with recent guidance.  
 
There is well established partnership working and communication across key partners, 
including the voluntary and community sector, which are leading to practice improvements 
and increased community capacity to keep children safe. Over the past year, the SSCB has 
continued to work across the borough’s diverse communities, including promoting 
safeguarding training to faith communities and providing free training to the voluntary and 
community sector. Due to the high levels of black African children in our child protection 
system, it has continued to work with community organisation Afruca to support capacity in 
responding to local needs. Afruca has undertaken staff training and worked in the black 
African community to raise awareness of safeguarding issues, including facilitating 
relationship building between safeguarding services and community groups. It also began 
working more collaboratively with the voluntary sector to develop a network and information 
exchange for local community organisations, faith groups and communities to promote 
safeguarding awareness. In addition, the board worked with the authority’s planning 
department to produce a handbook on places of worship, in response to concerns about 
some local churches using light industrial premises not intended as places of worship.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

34



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   17  

 
 
The Annual Performance Assessment for 2007, recommended action to reduce the number 
of staying safe actions in childcare inspections, and was subsequently commended in the 
APA 2008. Overseen by the board, this was achieved through a coordinated programme of 
work with the sector including annual audits, a comprehensive training programme informed 
by these audits and individual work with settings where concerns had arisen. This action was 
linked with the commissioning process, with providers required to demonstrate they meet 
acceptable standards before they can receive grant aid or offer funded places.  
 
In its work to support continuous improvement, the board actively reviewed and successfully 
implemented changes that strengthened its governance and enable enhanced challenge and 
support of safeguarding practices across the local area and of its partners. Key themes of the 
review were the need to streamline and strengthen senior governance arrangements, 
refocus subgroup arrangements and enhance the board’s approach to measuring outcomes 
and its way of both monitoring and evaluating how effectively local organisations are meet 
their safeguarding obligations. Improvements include the appointment of an independent 
chair in October 2009, reconfiguring the executive to ensure presence of senior leaders from 
partner organisations, which now meets four times a year, and refocusing the board as a 
wider stakeholder forum to ensure representatives across a range of partners. The number 
of subgroups has been reduced to create a smaller number of standing groups with key 
tasks and responsibility for commissioning projects of local importance. The work of the 
subgroups will be coordinated and monitored by the wider SSCB. The remit of the executive 
has been refocused on overseeing the development and action of the annual report, 
ensuring regular dialogue and account to the children’s trust in regard to local safeguarding 
issues, ensuring persistent and strategic safeguarding issues are addressed, such as those 
arising from serious case reviews (SCR) or inspections and taking action to resolve them, 
and ensuring compliance and improving outcomes in regard to borough and individual 
agency safeguarding practices.  
 
In order to further increase democratic accountability, the board has appointed the lead 
cabinet member for children’s services as a participant observer to the board and supports 
her to exercise accountability for safeguarding through chairing the children’s trust, receiving 
monthly briefings in regard to outcomes and key issues facing local safeguarding services, 
and by chairing the corporate parenting panel, which holds council-wide responsibility for our 
most vulnerable children and young people. All elected members are also encouraged to 
attend SSCB safeguarding training and child protection update seminars. In line with new 
national requirements, the board is recruiting two lay members, with selection criteria agreed 
and circulated widely across the community and voluntary sector.  
 
All partners are committed to continued investment in safeguarding services, with core 
member agencies contributing to a joint budget of £80,000, which funds board management 
and administration, and the inter-agency training programme. A separate contribution from 

Story G - Clash of cultures 
“I have found it difficult to marry my role as a faith group leader taking on board what is 
right in the eyes of my faith and what are the safeguarding rules in this country. Spare the 
rod spoil the child springs to mind.  
 
“I was asked to write a safeguarding policy to ensure that the children who attend our 
church are safeguarded. When this was being constructed, it struck me that what was 
culturally and religiously acceptable was not OK based on safeguarding principles. I feel 
that Southwark should spend some more time with us to help us understand the issues.  
 
“Working with families with different perspectives on discipline is challenging but we all 
know that there are other ways of rebuking our children without resorting to physical 
punishment. I have been commended on how I interact with the children and their 
families in the faith group setting.” 
 

35



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   18  

Southwark’s children’s services meets additional administration, officer and management 
support.  
 
There is already good representation on the board from a wide range of partners such as 
schools and the voluntary and community sector. The board is working to strengthen 
accountability in some areas – for example, ensuring that there are clear governance 
arrangements and opportunity for regular feedback and dialogue between representatives 
and associated sector-based governance arrangements, such as those between 
headteacher SSCB representatives and the Headteachers’ Executive, the local leadership 
forum for schools.  
 
Locally, there are good examples of how this works, for example, some agencies, such as 
our health partners, proactively ensure that actions from the board are disseminated and 
implemented in their individual organisations. It is less clear, however, how SSCB actions are 
communicated in other agencies, such as probation and the police, which have centrally 
managed systems and have an impact on safeguarding outcomes. To address issues such 
as these, the chair recommended the strengthening of single-agency and inter-agency 
assurance processes. In response, the board introduced a systematic framework of review of 
partner’s safeguarding practice underpinned by self evaluation and evidence. The executive 
now requires member agencies to present for its consideration an annual report of the 
effectiveness of their section 11 safeguarding function with a focus on frontline practice and 
quality assurance, which enables the SSCB to assure the effectiveness of safeguarding 
arrangements as well as contributing usefully to each individual agency’s actions to improve 
outcomes for children and young people. This improved, smarter way of working significantly 
strengthens the board’s approach to holding partners to account, building on an already 
strong culture of peer challenge and introducing a more evaluative, systematic and 
transparent approach. The board has laid out expectations in the introduction of this new way 
for working that there is a special focus on the experience and outcome for the child and 
family, and on staffing matters.  
 
 
 

 

Story H - A safe return 
“A boy, S, arrived at school in year 2. Exceptionally challenging behaviour – outbursts of 
anger, physical aggression, self-harm (banging head against doors, glass panels, one of 
which he actually broke). Queries immediately about who was caring for him, what his 
‘home’ experience was. S lied about where he lived, disclosed he’d been paid to do this. 
Referral made to Social Services.  
 
“Lots of digging resulted in background being shared with agencies – S had been 
‘snatched’ from mother overseas by one of his father’s ‘friends’ because the father had 
broken bail and come illegally to this country. He thought, wrongly, having a child here 
would enable him to stay. Child lived in a cupboard in girlfriend’s house. Lots of violence 
and police involvement. Child trusted nobody, desperately wanted affection from dad. 
 
“On Child Protection Register, S and father moved around from borough to borough, 
wherever the current girlfriend’ had an address. Ended up sleeping on floor under bed in 
hostel. Thrown out when social worker bought S own bed for his birthday, cos they 
weren’t supposed to be there. Eventually, after long meetings with dad, persuaded him to 
give S up into care.  
 
“S began, slowly, to be teachable and trust. We gave 1:1 support for mornings in school. 
A strong bond formed between S and this young mentor. Through persistent efforts on 
the part of social worker, S’s mum was found and there was not a dry eye on the day S 
flew, with the social worker, back home.”  
 

36



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   19  

There is widespread evidence of good assurance measures to ensure children and young 
people are safeguarded adequately. For example, local health trusts – King’s College 
Hospital, Guy’s and St Thomas’ (GSTT), and South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation 
Trusts – all take a proactive approach to ensuring strategic and senior management 
commitment and oversight of safeguarding and child protection issues. Each trust has its 
own safeguarding executive, which is chaired by a senior member of staff and where all 
actions from the SSCB, SCRs and other safeguarding issues are regularly reviewed. This 
model of accountability and communication provides an important mechanism to ensure 
safeguarding outcomes across the partnership, and the SSCB encourages other agencies to 
consider how senior accountability and communication can similarly be exercised in their 
agencies.  
 
The PCT strengthened its processes around child protection activity, including the 
reconstruction of the Southwark PCT child protection executive group following a review of 
its leadership and governance arrangements relating to child protection activities last May. 
Chaired at director level, the executive group now ensures a direct link between the SSCB 
and the management of frontline health services, and includes the reviewing of performance 
monitoring and outcome measurements. GSTT also reviewed its governance arrangements 
last year to ensure that the framework in place would meet the requirements of national 
policy. The central safeguarding team responsible for child protection and vulnerable adults, 
established last year, is providing invaluable support, led by a deputy chief nurse. An 
additional safeguarding post for maternity services was appointed this year, in recognition of 
the high volumes of complex cases being referred. Complicated or difficult cases are 
reviewed at a weekly meeting attended by key stakeholders, with agreed actions and 
outcomes monitored.  
 
A key objective of the SSCB’s new way of working is to ensure that the practice is consistent 
across all agencies. The changes to governance arrangements provide good foundations for 
the board to meet current and future challenges. There is evidence that the new model will 
support greater impact on frontline practice, strengthen its oversight of effectiveness of 
partner agencies and improve its ability to call partner agencies to account. This will be 
central to enabling the board to meet new challenges such as the outcomes of the Munroe 
review and continuing to ensure safe services within a climate of significant budget 
reductions, rising demands for services and the necessary transformation of services in order 
to meet national and local efficiency targets.  
 
 
5.0  Assessment of safeguarding policies, procedures and training 
 
The SSCB ensures that local safeguarding practice is guided by a comprehensive set of 
regional and local policies and procedures. Through its role as lead commissioner of training 
for safeguarding, it drives a partnership-wide commitment to workforce development 
demonstrated by a wide-ranging training programme available to all partners, including the 
voluntary sector. The SSCB has taken the lead role in developing a range of approaches to 
support good information sharing to improve safeguarding practice and has facilitated a 
number of multi-agency arrangements to support good communication between key 
professionals. The introduction of strengthened governance arrangements for the board will 
support systematic and robust review of partner’s compliance with national and local 
safeguarding procedures, as well as take up of training and other workforce development 
activities. There is evidence that further work could be done to ensure compliance of 
safeguarding guidelines in all local commissioning arrangements. In response to delivering 
the step change required to safeguarding practice, and in line with initial findings from the 
Munroe review, the board is leading the rebalancing of the focus on the bureaucracy and 
processes with outcomes, including the introduction of transformational learning to deepen 
staff skills and knowledge.  
 
Strengths 

37



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   20  

- The SSCB has ensured national and regional policy and procedural frameworks, and 
local guidance are disseminated to all partner agencies to support local practice 
issues, such as those arising from SCRs and information sharing needs 

- The board is strongly committed to workforce development and has commissioned a 
comprehensive programme of training which is highly valued by partners and staff  

 
Priorities for improvement 

- Improve compliance and challenge arrangements of partners in regard to national, 
regional and local policy, procedures and practice including training and development 
and borough-wide commissioning activities  

 
Recommendations from independent chair  

- In order to support staff to consistently recognise and act in a timely and appropriate 
fashion in regard to potential signs of abuse and neglect, the SSCB should simplify 
the range of procedures, guidance and policy going forward. It is recommended that 
in the main the basis of agencies’ procedures should be national and regional 
guidance rather than local guidance, unless there is evidence that it will add value to 
improving local safeguarding outcomes 

- Commission future training programmes using the principles of transformational and 
active learning approaches, such as audit based learning, to deepen staff’s skills and 
knowledge with a view to improving frontline practice that helps keep children safe 

 
The basis of Southwark’s safeguarding practice guidance is Working Together and the Pan 
London Child Protection Procedures. In previous years, the SSCB, in being responsive to 
local need, also led the development and implementation of local joint protocols of 
particularly prevalent local safeguarding issues in regard to mental health, alcohol and 
substance misuse, domestic abuse, and parents with learning difficulties and/or disabilities 
(LDD). With time, however, the London procedures now reflect these issues and the future of 
these local procedures is now under review as the board seeks to simplify local guidance 
and protocols. For example, in response to recommendations in a recent SCR, the board 
suspended the use of a joint protocol on domestic abuse in favour of the London Child 
Protection Procedures, which are more detailed in this area. Inspection such as the JAR and 
the unannounced inspection of contact, referral and assessment have recognised that the 
well-established and clear strategies, policies, and procedures as contributing to ensuring a 
robust system for interagency working and support statutory requirements to safeguard 
children and young people are met. Generally, evidence of frontline practice across all 
agencies demonstrates that workers have a good working knowledge of national and local 
guidance. This includes the voluntary sector, which can overall demonstrate robust 
safeguarding practice, although both the SSCB and the local third sector umbrella 
organisation Community Action Southwark (CAS) recognise further work is needed to gain a 
full picture of standards across the whole sector. In response, CAS has set up a 
safeguarding committee for the third sector which is currently undertaking a survey of 
members’ arrangements.  
 
The SSCB takes a visible leadership role in ensuring partner agencies and its workforce are 
kept informed of the latest guidance and procedures. There is a regular programme of inter-
agency update seminars and events available to all staff across the partnership. Good use is 
made of existing forums, for example a central theme of this year’s annual safeguarding 
conference was promoting the revisions to Working Together guidance, while the designated 
safeguarding workers’ networks managed the dissemination and practical implementation of 
new guidance for this key staff group. There is wide-ranging evidence that partners regularly 
review and update local practice in line with changes to relevant guidance. For example, all 
the borough’s health providers revised their child protection policies to incorporate a new 
supervision policy to ensure that best practice and lessons learnt from SCRs were reflected. 
Another example of procedures responding to local need is GSTT and King’s recent 
implementation of systems which more quickly identify those children subject to a child 

38



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   21  

protection plan in either Southwark or Lambeth – this constitutes an IT flagging system in 
GSTT, and a risk assessment and alert procedure within King’s.  
 
This SSCB has led on the development of practice and policy for sharing information across 
partners. Inspection has commended partners’ effective information sharing at the early 
signs of abuse and neglect, as well as partners’ contribution to the referral and assessment 
process. This includes well-established joint working arrangement for key child protection 
activity such as conferences and strategy meetings. Local joint working arrangements 
support greater information sharing and understanding between professionals, facilitated 
through the partnership working of the SSCB, including a range of collocation and specialist 
worker arrangements. For example, there is close working between health specialists and 
the pre-birth team with acute and community providers to support risk assessment and the 
delivery of child protection services for vulnerable parents. The SSCB has taken a lead role, 
for example providing training, on key developmental pieces of work such as developing 
information sharing protocols with the children’s trust, disseminating guidance and training, 
and work on escalation procedures. The board has also led targeted work with partners, for 
example, following a SCR, working with mental health workers on how and when to share 
information in regard to parental safeguarding concerns.  
 
 
 

 
 
The strong leadership role of the SSCB in policy and practice development can be 
demonstrated by its work on safe recruitment. It has led efforts to ensure the safe recruitment 
of frontline staff in agencies, continues to widely promote guidance on safe recruitment and 
safe disciplinary measures across agencies, and provides advice, training and safe 
recruitment materials across the partnership. It has worked with partners in the authority to 
produce guidance for schools and similar settings, resulting in almost all educational settings 
now having appropriate training in safe recruitment. In addition, the board has introduced 
compulsory training for school governors and advises appropriate action to ensure safe 

Story I - Just want someone to love me 
“I am a care leaver. I am 20 and was born in Southwark. I came in to care with my 2 
brothers. My mother left us when we were very young. Father raped me when I was six 
and we suffered terrible neglect. At first I did not tell anyone about the abuse but after I 
was in a foster placement I told people. I was placed in a long-term foster placement 
outside of London but was isolated and perhaps a little over protected from life’s realities. 
 
“I was happy having a mum and a dad. When I was due to leave care I was placed in a 
hostel. But there were lots of young mums with babies and I found it hard to settle. I have 
lots of relationships with men who are much older than me. I am trying to have a baby 
because it is what I want most, my own family. Although I have only been with my 
boyfriend for one month, I may be pregnant. 
 
“I have already had a termination which I felt railroaded into because social services 
understand that I have a functioning age of 14, and advised me to wait. I will and am 
determined to have a baby. Social services are supporting me and advise me not to take 
drugs, drink and to wait to see if my relationship lasts but I am determined and will run 
away if I have to. Social services know this and will support me through the pregnancy but 
it is likely that they will apply for a care order as I cannot really look after myself or keep 
myself safe. They are worried for my unborn/potential child. I know I will need 24 hour 
support to look after my baby. My adviser understands my need for a family but cannot 
force me to have an abortion. If they do I will run away. So they have to work with me. I 
do not know if they will take my baby away which will be more devastating than an 
abortion. But I am determined. Social services have serious concerns for my own safety 
as I take risks, and cannot really look after myself. All I want is the family that I never 
really had.” 
 

39



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   22  

appointment where a negative Criminal Records Bureau check has been issued. It also plans 
to undertake an audit of safe recruitment through the introduction of its assurance 
framework.  
 
These measures have contributed to high safeguarding standards across the borough’s 
schools – of the 17 schools inspected by Ofsted since September 2009, when the criteria 
were amended, all but one has scored good or better for pupils feeling safe and all but two 
have scored good or better for the effectiveness of safeguarding procedures. Notifications of 
allegations against those in a position of trust in 2009/10 rose to 79, up from 59 the previous 
year, and are now more in line with other London boroughs and largely due to more 
notifications from schools.  
 
Inter-agency audit against compliance with policy and procedures is central to the work of the 
SSCB. The outcome of this work shows that while the core elements of the London Child 
Protection Procedures are used, practice can be inconsistent. In order to address this issue, 
a key part of the revised governance and compliance arrangements, as set out in section 
two, includes the systematic auditing of performance across all partner agencies to support 
ongoing review and improvements of frontline practice to protect children from harm. A 
particular area this seeks to address is to seek greater assurance of adherence to local 
requirements of those partners covered by more regional management structures, such as 
the police and probation. There is also evidence from audit, however, that even where 
protocols and guidance underpin practice, it is difficult to show that compliance consistently 
results in improved safeguarding outcomes. This has been a key driver for the independent 
chair’s recommendation for the introduction of transformational and audit based learning to 
deepen staff skills. As a result, the board is now rolling out a programme of inter-agency peer 
audits to support reflective practice and continuous improvement. 
 
The leadership of the SSCB maintains a partnership-wide commitment to workforce 
development in regard to safeguarding practice ranging from core child protection to 
specialist training in regard to particular areas of need. The board commissions a 
comprehensive programme of training with participant feedback confirming that this is highly 
valued. Most training is inter-agency and some 800 staff training sessions are offered 
including conferences and action learning sets. In order to address core child protection 
training needs, all new local authority staff undertakes an e-learning programme on 
safeguarding vulnerable adults and children, and evidence shows a 98% compliance rate. 
Training programmes are designed around local needs such as themes arising from audit 
and SCRs. For example, last year saw the introduction of master classes on working with 
uncooperative families and work with social care practitioners on domestic abuse in case 
management. Local training programmes also seek to address local safeguarding needs, 
and the SSCB has led on developing a range of awareness-raising sessions with faith 
communities, particularly the African community, including the commissioning of locally 
based Afruca which runs sessions on safeguarding children with faith group leaders.  
 
Partners are equally able to demonstrate a commitment to safeguarding training within their 
own organisations, for example GSTT has surpassed the 80% NHS London target for child 
protection levels 1, 2 and 3 training, with 97% of staff eligible for level 1 now trained and 86% 
for level 2. In recognising some deficits in its training uptake, King’s has introduced new 
training requirements for staff at levels 1 and 2, such as all midwives now having annual 
mandatory training, based around learning from SCRs and addressing alcohol and 
substance misuse. The PCT recently introduced mandatory level 3 training for supervisors 
following an audit of existing supervision practice which identified this as a development 
need. The voluntary sector has good take-up rates for safeguarding training, with a recently 
commissioned Ofsted survey of third sector providers showing that 76% of local 
organisations reported that training on children’s safeguarding was available from the SSCB, 
compared to a 49% rate nationally.  
 

40



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   23  

The SSCB recognises the importance of workforce development in regard to improving 
frontline practice and outcomes for families. In responding to the early findings of the Munroe 
review, the board is now embarking a programme of transformational and active learning 
approaches to deepen staff skills and knowledge. For example, recent study days and 
conferences have presented ‘the story’ of an abused child in a concrete interactive session, 
with the aim of prompting transformational learning. In addition the board manager runs an 
annual action learning set for frontline practice managers. This is supported by a move to 
tailor the training programme to the individual training needs of frontline workers, a model 
recognised as national best practice, and the use of IT to better gauge workers’ training 
needs and to adapt local training practices accordingly. 
 
 
6.0 Monitoring and evaluation and quality assurance activity 
 
The SSCB has established a performance management and evaluation culture across the 
partnership to support sustained improvements in safeguarding outcomes. Management 
information, audit and quality assurance are used both at board and individual agency level 
to support improvements in frontline practice and outcomes. Overall, partners can 
demonstrate a robust approach to performance management and quality assurance, 
including review and changes in delivery in light of outcomes from SCRs. Going forward, 
however, the SSCB recognises the challenge is how it can further bring together outcomes 
from this work into a performance management framework which drives strategic areas for 
development and service improvement, such as future audit programme and the work of the 
SCR panel.  
 
Strengths  

- There is evidence of regular auditing and performance management by all agencies 
leading to changes in frontline practice and outcomes  

- Equality and diversity issues are considered in the work with families which impacts 
on the delivery of provision and ensures it responds to individual and local community 
needs  

 
Priorities for improvement  

- Enable greater shared understanding and learning across the partnership from the 
work of individual partners’ auditing and quality assurance processes to inform 
changes to partnership-wide frontline practice.  

 
Recommendations of the independent chair 

- Revise current performance management frameworks to enable greater monitoring of 
effectiveness, sustained improvements in safeguarding outcomes and support 
strategic areas for development and service improvement.  

 
There is evidence that the majority of partners have in place a range of robust systems that 
assure service provision and quality, and lead to changes in service delivery and frontline 
practice. For example, the audit programme at King’s has resulted in revisions to training to 
better address risk factors of domestic abuse and a new timeframe for medical staff to 
provide reports to police and social care for suspected child protection cases. At GSTT, a 
specialist youth worker has been employed to follow up cases of young people presenting 
with non-accidental injuries following an audit of cases of children presenting at casualty 
where prevalence in this area was high. The PCT’s audit programme, meanwhile, last year 
highlighted some key areas for improvement around supervision. As a result the trust has 
introduced mandatory training, improvements in supervision for named nurses and three-
monthly reviews of all vulnerable families. These measures will be subject to another audit 
next year to evaluate whether they have made a difference to practice and outcomes. All 
schools, including supplementary and independent sector provision, undertake guided 
safeguarding audits every 18 months. There is evidence that this has supported 16 out of 17 
schools inspected by Ofsted since September 2009 scoring good or better for pupils feeling 

41



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   24  

safe, and 15 out of 17 scoring good or better for effectiveness of safeguarding practice. 
Going forward, however, the SSCB recognises it could promote better the sharing of 
outcomes from individual audits and changes in practice and, where appropriate, what these 
mean for strategic development of partnership-wide safeguarding practice and provision.  
 
In children’s services, quality audits by the youth offending service has driven improvements 
in safeguarding practice, with a regular liaison meeting between the contact, referral and 
assessment service and the youth offending service, which has improved the quality and 
appropriateness of referrals and support better risk assessment. The unannounced 
inspection of the contact, referral and assessment service also highlighted the good audits 
commissioned by senior managers, noting they have been appropriately used to focus 
service development and take action to address identified development issues. For example, 
audit and quality assurance in the service supported early and effective action to address 
unsatisfactory casework practice and managerial oversight in one of four teams following a 
period of instability in the management group. Remedial action was taken, including 
providing additional support from an experienced quality assurance manager, which is 
beginning to show improvement in the quality and management oversight of the team and 
evidence that these improvements have been embedded. Reflective of responsive and good-
quality case work is the range of evidence that supports equality and diversity issues, which 
are well addressed in local safeguarding practice. The recent inspection of referral and 
assessment highlighted this as an area of strength and the service has developed a number 
of specialism in response to local needs analysis and audit findings. A key strand of 
development work for the local children’s services and the SSCB has been raising 
awareness and knowledge around safeguarding issues in the black African community. 
Needs analysis has shown that there is over-representation of black African children in 
section 47 work and this has led to the commissioning of community organisation Afruca to 
enhance cultural understanding and how this should inform practice. There has been 
successful work with the community on raising awareness around private fostering and, as a 
result, Southwark has the most successful notification rates in London. The local authority 
has now appointed a head of social work improvement and quality assurance to oversee 
improvements in multi-agency practice around child protection, children in care and quality 
assurance of partnership areas for improvement as highlighted through national and local 
practice.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

42



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   25  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
There is evidence that the SSCB has supported learning and audit findings from partnership-
wide areas of concern, and these have also led to improvements. For example, the SSCB 
standards sub-group carries out a range of inter-agency audits, choosing cases at random 
based on themes referred to them or following a SCR. During 2009/10, it audited cases that 
had been subject of a child protection plan for over two years and made a number of 
recommendations about chairing of child protection case conferences and risk assessments 
which have been fed back to the respective services.  
 
Another recent example is the establishment of a dedicated pre-birth team in the contact, 
referral and assessment services in response to recommendations raised in an audit of pre-
birth assessment, which was in response to a SCR. The audit identified the need for better 
long-term planning where pre-birth cases are likely to meet the threshold for a legal planning 
meeting and/or a child protection plan. The team, staffed by social workers and a health 
specialist, now provides specialist skills, works to build closer working relationships with key 
agencies and offers timely action to protect children at birth. A further audit is planned jointly 
between children’s services and the PCT to assess the impact of vulnerable pre-birth 
casework and outcomes. Early indication suggest that less children are becoming subject to 
care orders as a result of the earlier sharing of information and the development of better risk 
management processes.  
 
Another key partnership-wide theme arising from audit has been the better support of infants 
whose parents have mental health and/or substance misuse concerns. As result, the SSCB 
has led the considerable work to raise awareness of safeguarding issues in the adult 
workforce and promote better understanding of mental health and substance dependency 
issues in adult social work teams. This has included the publication of a number of dedicated 
local protocols and the creation of a specialist post working between adult and children’s 
services. King’s established a multi-agency working group to review pathways of care for 
pregnant women with mental health problems and which links into the work of the pre-birth 
team. The strengthened peri-natal and midwifery pathways came into effect in May and the 

Story J 
“Family A arrived at our primary school 2 years ago.  Mrs A enrolled her daughter, aged 
7, and twin daughter and son, aged 8, midway through a term.  She was very late for the 
admission meeting and gave the excuse as the traffic.  Her reasons for moving her 
children midterm seemed plausible – she was tired of travelling the distance to their 
current school, due to her disability – “her legs” she explained. 
 
“All three children started at our school and on their first day – they were late.  Very late.  
Half an hour late.  Not the best start to their new school.  A phone call to Mum to enquire 
why the children were late – “they wouldn’t get dressed in time” she explained.  Over the 
past 2 years – the children have continued to be late arriving to school – that’s if they turn 
up at all.  When they are in school, one, two or all three complain to staff they are hungry, 
they often don’t have their glasses so they can’t see the board, sometimes one of them 
may fall asleep.  They are delightful children and love to learn, however a combination of 
tiredness, hunger and absence is preventing them from achieving their full potential.  
They are referred to the Education Welfare Services. 
 
“More phone calls to Mum requested she comes in to discuss our concerns.  “What have 
they been saying?” she asks, “whatever it is they’re lying”.  I say a referral is being made 
to social services due to ongoing concerns about the children.  She disagrees and says 
she cares for her children.  The referral is completed and sent.  Then, 13 days later, a 
response:  No further action to be taken. 
 
The next day, one of the twins arrives late, complains he’s not eaten any breakfast... the 
other twin falls asleep in lessons. Is anybody listening? 
 

43



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   26  

new system is supported by a weekly, multi-agency safeguarding meeting attended by 
representatives from both Southwark and Lambeth children and young people’s services, 
mental health services and primary care.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
It is recommended that the future performance management framework of the work of the 
board is reviewed to reflect the introduction of recent developments in its way of working, as 
well as to ensure that the outcomes of audit and quality assurance practices both in 
individual agencies and across the partnership support the strategic areas for service 
development and improvement in outcomes. For example, the board plans to strengthen its 
oversight of day-to-day frontline operations through a larger programme of audits involving 
frontline workers and their managers so that learning is embedded and a culture of review 
and continuous improvement fostered. The standards sub-group has been charged with 
responsibility for designing and recommending to the SSCB a rolling programme of case 
audits, ensuring that the process should be one of ‘reviewing with’, in order to generate real 
learning, and less one of top-down ‘auditing. The outcomes of this work need to be 
considered alongside the type of management information the board monitors, how this can 
link to service improvements identified through SCRs and add value to partners’ own audits. 
This could include how this type of audit can be used in a targeted way to support where 
other audits have identified areas for improvement. One of the first areas that this new 
system will be applied to is improving the support to infants where parents have mental 
health and/or substance misuse problems, an area of particular local concern and which was 
highlighted in an overview of recent SCRs. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Story K - Safe at last 
“I was born in Central Africa. My mother died in childbirth when I was 7. My father died in 
prison after being arrested for political activity. I was arrested, tortured, raped, escaped, 
worked as a prostitute, made my way to the UK, helped by a client. My asylum was 
refused but I did find  
my sister. I attempted to hang myself in the removal centre. I was allowed to leave and 
given temporary leave to stay. 
 
“I have a new supportive mental health worker. They see me often and supervise my 
medication. They liaise with a housing provider. I am pregnant. A specialist midwife is 
overseeing my case. They will arrange for a mental health worker to see me after I have 
my baby to make sure I am well. The mental health team has referred to social services. 
This social worker was worried I couldn’t look after my baby. They called a case 
conference. They did not make a child protection plan.” 
 

44



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   27  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.0 Serious case reviews 
 
Southwark has completed three SCRs since March 2009. Practice in regard to this shows a 
good level of inter-agency cooperation and partnership working in the process of conducting 
the review and addressing the issues identified. A review of strategic themes arising from 
SCRs, as set out this report, highlights the reoccurring themes. The SSCB and the SCR 
panel should consider going forward how to ensure that actions and learning from SCRs are 
reviewed and embedded across individual agencies and the partnership as a whole. 
Common themes and learning from SCRs indicate that local improvement is needed in how 
different services working with vulnerable parents at pre-birth and in infancy, need to 
consider the risk of parenting capacity in regard to basic care and safety of the child; 
inconsistency in the compliance of protocols and procedures of staff acting in a timely way to 
signs of abuse and neglect; and where there are safeguarding concerns, more effective 
utilisation is needed of key infrastructures in place to support risk management, such as 
better use of the designated lead professional.  
 
Strengths  

- SCRs demonstrate a good level of inter-agency cooperation and partnership working 
to respond to indentified risks within individual agencies and across the partnership 

- There are some examples of thorough and considered individual management 
reviews (IMRs) and overview reports that help support local learning and 
improvements in practice 

 
Priorities for improvements  

- Improvements in the local process for SCRs should include improving the quality and 
timeliness of key documentation, and ensuring analysis and learning are strategic 
and provide a sound basis for continuous practice improvement  

 
Recommendations of independent chair  

- An SCR panel be established to take overall leadership for previous and future SCRs. 
This should include ensuring that actions and learning from SCRs are reviewed and 
embedded across individual agencies and the partnership as a whole  

- Further consideration should be given to how the section 11 process could further 
capture and support improvements in practice by individual agencies in line with their 
individual issues and actions arising through SCRs 

 
Southwark has completed three SCRs since March 2009 of child G, F and I. Analysis shows 
there are a number of similarities in the three cases, with all three of the children being 

Story L - Never say never: sometimes the extended family helps 
“T is aged 18 and presents with concerns around substance misuse. She has a psychotic 
diagnosis, lives alone and has just realised that she is five months pregnant!! Her mental 
health worker makes a referral to social services and mental health psychiatric consultant 
predicts an over 75% chance of a psychotic relapse. Suggestions are for the baby to be 
removed.  
 
“As an allocated social worker to the case I start by exploring T’s childhood and it emerges 
that she didn’t have a good experience. At one point she was sexually abused at the age 
of 7, didn’t finish her education and recently experienced a date rape from ex-boyfriend 
who is father of the unborn. I turn to T’s wider family and their response was fantastic.  
 
“They all pledged to support T, even though they had cut ties with her. Although T’s baby 
was made subject to a child protection plan, he remained in the care of T with wide family 
support. It’s four years now and T is in nursery. Current records indicate that he is thriving 
well, with his aunties and maternal grandmother still around for him.”  
 

45



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   28  

infants in their first six months of life and all suffering physical trauma. There are number of 
reoccurring key themes, which are addressed in more detail below. As set out in earlier 
chapters, overall the SCR process illustrates good levels of cooperation and partnership 
working between agencies both in terms of completing IMRs, introducing changes to practice 
and monitoring improvements through audit and review. The board has been prompt in 
responding to changes in guidance on SCRs, with the last two reports written by an 
independent author, and the last SCR chaired independently.  
 
Evaluation of local SCRs by Ofsted has found them adequate, with all evaluations 
suggesting further improvement is needed in the conduct of the local SCR process. Subject 
to future guidance, the past three SCRs highlight improvements are still needed in the overall 
quality and consistency of agency IMRs. Although, there are some very good examples of 
high-quality IMRs and work by agencies, overall the SCR process could be strengthened 
further. Key areas for improvement include the standardisation of key documentation to 
better support analysis, consideration of how clearer terms of reference could assist in 
specifying particular issues for agencies to address, and better quality assurance and 
challenge throughout the process of agencies and documentation provided. Although 
thorough, a reoccurring theme of local SCRs is that they could improve through providing 
more succinct and strategic recommendations and would benefit from fewer actions to 
provide a sound basis for strategic improvements in local safeguarding practice. In order to 
address this, the independent chair has established a standing SCR committee which will 
meet four times a year to oversee recommendations for new SCRs, review progress against 
SCR action plans and lead on the identification and delivery of strategic and systematic 
improvements to the inter-agency system in accordance with learning from the SCRs. The 
board will be responsible for putting in place arrangements to tighten the SCR process in 
accordance with revised chapter 8 requirements, including improved management of the 
reporting process, use of standardised documentation and the identification of key lessons to 
be disseminated to the wider system.  
 
As the number of cases subject to SCR in Southwark is small, it is useful to put these cases 
in the context of national and pan-London SCRs. A confidential overview of London SCRs 
carried out 2004-06 noted some significant differences between children subject to SCRs in 
London and the national picture. Children in London were more likely to be young children 
and infants, and more likely to be the only child in the family household. Fewer deaths and 
serious injuries were related to the risks associated with parental drug or alcohol use but a 
higher number involved parents with mental ill health, although it is recognised that the 
national figures may be affected by under-reporting. The cases in Southwark would seem to 
reflect this picture. A recent report by the Government Office for London, on the period April 
2006 to September 2009, does not find all these variations still present but does note the 
vulnerability of infants and the high number of families (60%) where childcare was affected 
by a parent’s mental health issues.  
 
 
 

46



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   29  

 
 
The two most recent SCRs shared a number of common factors. They were both the first 
children of parents who had been known to services prior to the pregnancy and where there 
was a combination of risk factors including a history of some misuse of controlled 
substances, difficulties in the parents’ relationship, including a level of domestic abuse, and a 
history of psychiatric and psychological problems. In these cases, there have been issues 
with communication between agencies working with the vulnerable parent, particularly in 
regard to agencies such as adult mental health and those working within peri-natal services 
such as health visiting and midwifery. This included poor recording of key information, 
inadequate sharing of information between key professional and insufficient risk assessment 
and consideration of history of the parent, to help form decisions regarding parental capacity 
to provide basic care, safety and protection. In both cases, the pre-birth work could have 
been improved.  
 
As highlighted throughout this report, there has been much progress locally to address the 
key learning and issues arising from SCRs. With a focus and marked improvement on the 
work of key partners, such as acute trusts, and the development of provision such as the pre-
birth team in the contact, referral and assessment service to better respond to this local area 
of need. Other local developments to address this include greater coordination of work with 
parents-to-be who have mental ill health, and formalisation of inter-agency risk assessment 
and planning through revised peri-natal liaison meetings, which now include increased 
management capacity following appointment by the PCT of a specialist safeguarding nurse. 
Further consideration, however, should be given by the board as to how the section 11 
process could further capture and support more systematically and robustly the 
improvements in practice by individual agencies in line with their bespoke areas for 
development arising from SCRs; and would further inform the work of the newly established 
SCR committee.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Story M - ‘The cycle’ 
“19 year old pregnant young woman informs her personal advisor in the adolescent and 
after care service she is pregnant. As this young woman was in care since the age of 
10yrs, and still open to our service, a referral was made to children’s services for a pre-
birth assessment.  
 
“It transpired that in conjunction to her very sad and troubled childhood, she has been a 
regular abuser of alcohol. This has resulted in high levels of anti-social and criminal 
activities. She now has a tag. Her boyfriend likewise has been known to children’s social 
services since he was born and struggles with substance misuse and criminal activities. 
They are however determined to give their baby a different life and are desperate to 
prove to professionals they can be good parents.  
 
“Because of the very concerning risk factors the case did go to court. However, due to 
the hard work of all involved (including mum and dad) and social worker, the parents will 
have the opportunity to prove their commitment and determination in a residential 
parenting unit. Will this be different for this baby? Will the cycle stop? At what cost?” 
 

47



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   30  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
As with most SCRs, a key reoccurring theme was the inconsistency in compliance of 
protocols and procedures of staff acting in a timely way to signs of abuse and neglect. The 
past two SCRs highlight the timeliness of referrals to social care and raise questions as to 
whether the quality of referrals sufficiently addressed the history of parent. Whether London 
Child Protection Procedures or local procedures were appropriately followed remains an 
issue for both cases, with non-compliance with both local protocols on domestic abuse and 
mental health.  
 
In addition, common to both local cases was the inappropriate use of workers, particularly in 
adult and universal services of the named and designated professional for safeguarding. In 
both SCRs, information was not shared with designated leads, nor were they appropriately 
consulted. As a result, work is underway by agencies to increase the use by frontline staff of 
safeguarding advisors, including the improvement of escalation processes. Other work 
includes a review of thresholds and clarity around the role and expectations of the 
designated lead professional in the identification, referral and assessment of safeguarding 
cases.  
 
 
8.0  Child death overview panel-narrative 
 
Strengths 

- There is partnership commitment and strong leadership regarding the child death 
review process  

- Cases are reviewed thoroughly and partners have committed resources to support 
this statutory requirement 

 
Areas for improvement  

- Due to the nature of the deaths, the learning arising from child death review is often 
clinical and does not necessarily further enhance learning for the system  

 

Story N - I thought you were different 
“T, 19, had been referred to the family nurse partnership programme at 17 weeks 
pregnant. She had had a difficult childhood and had a fractured relationship with her 
family and few friends. She had suffered physical and verbal abuse from her family. Her 
only support was her boyfriend and father of her child. Her pregnancy was unplanned 
and was initially difficult for T to come to terms with. She met her nurse frequently 
throughout her pregnancy and worked well with her named nurse. She had a healthy 
baby boy and was discharged to her temporary accommodation with the baby. 
 
“T was very tired and low in mood in the initial few weeks. Her boyfriend was around but 
offered limited support. She disclosed to her nurse that she was frightened of her 
boyfriend, that he was physically and verbally abusive to her. The nurse explored this 
with T and explained she would need to refer to social services for support. T was in 
agreement, but said she was frightened of what might happen. The nurse referred to 
social services but was unable to get any further with T other than abusive texts, 
including ‘I thought you were different’. 
 
“The nurse was really upset, but never managed to re-engage T again. T arrived at a 
baby clinic in Southwark and the health visitor called the FNP to ask us if T was known to 
us. I said she was, but we had lost contact with her, but really needed to know if she still 
wanted a family nurse. Despite a 3 month gap she still requested to be part of the 
programme and worked with a newly allocated nurse with support from multiple agencies. 
She was allocated a safe place, but eventually made contact with the father of the child 
and domestic violence recommenced (at times severe). The domestic violence only 
ended when the father went to prison.” 
 

48



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2010  

04 January 2011 Version 4   31  

Recommendation of independent chair 
- Consideration as to how the child death review process continues to meet statutory 

requirements while supporting improved learning relative to resources committed  
 

49



 1 

Southwark Safeguarding Children Board                            Progress on Workplan                         November 2010 
 

Task Action 
 

Progress On 
target? 

1 Scrutinise safeguarding within the Children and Young People’s Plan 
and its implementation; provide advice to the delivery of agreed 
target areas family approaches to safeguarding; community 
safeguarding and reducing repeat incidence of domestic abuse. 
 

SSCB contributed to the developing CYPP. SSCB has not been 
asked to scrutinise any documents for the Trust to date. Note 
change in status of the CYPP.  
 

Need to note & report on progress of safeguarding activities 

 
 
Yes 

2 Plan for and draft the Annual Report of the Board and member 
agencies’ work for presentation to the Children’s Trust by September 
2010; to influence planning for the CYPP for the next business year, 
2011-12.        
 

Agencies have been contributing to the Annual Report. Progress 
report on the agenda for 7 Oct 2010. Draft report to the SSCB in 
November 2010 for endorsement and then to Trust, December 
2010.  

 
 
No 

3 Monitor and evaluate member agency safeguarding standards and 
outcomes through agency section 11 reporting to the Executive 
Board; including preparation for external safeguarding inspections.   
  

Section 11 process review agreed. Health Sec 11 reports Oct 
2010; Children’s Services, Education, Schools, Voluntary Sector & 
Adult Social Care; March 2011; Criminal Justice, Environment, 
Housing & Community Safety, May 2011. 
 

 
 
Yes 

4 Review the Board’s capacity and resources and member agency 
contributions to the Board’s work.  Review member agency financial 
contributions to the joint budget for 2011-12 by September 2010. 
 

Budget / resource review started in July 2010.  
May be impacted by the outcome of the national Munro Review.  
Chair considering proposals to be put to the Executive.             
To report to Executive    Early 2011 

 
 
Started 

5 Ensure that safeguarding children is fully incorporated into all 
commissioning of children’s services and their subsequent monitoring.  
Executive Board as part of the agency reviews. 
 

Agency Sec 11 reports will consider safeguarding commissioning.  
Children’s Services Commissioning and HR SubGroup have been 
looking at specific aspects of commissioning. Council has 
reviewed grant giving processes with regard to commissioning.  
The Gov review of the ISA Vetting and Barring Scheme may 
influence this, plus any review by the govt on safeguarding 
standards and management of allegations against teachers (and 
others).  
 

Central Government review of guidance awaited. 

 
 
 
Yes 
 
 
 
 

6 Develop a programme of casework/clinical front-line practice 
evaluation – based on peer evaluation programmes.  To be in place 
by Sept 2010.   

Initial work started on this in May 2010. A proposal has been 
developed and this is being considered as part of the SubGroup 
review. Priority area to be in place by end of year.  
 

 
Delay 

50



 2 

7 Disseminate lessons from local audits and case reviews. Ongoing 
through training, update seminars and cascade training within 
agencies. 

SCR Dissemination Conference 10 June, CP Update seminars 
sharing lessons each term as new lessons are learned; built into 
SSCB training. Agencies are cascade training the lessons from 
SCRs and progress on this is to be audited by Dec 2010.  
CP Update Seminars Nov 2010 well attended. 

 
 
In place 

8 Provide leadership for the implementation of the ISA Vetting and 
Barring Scheme. HR Sub Group. Provide guidance and monitor. 
 

HR Sub Group was on target for this and information was sent 
out. The Gov review of the ISA Vetting and Barring Scheme and 
any review by the Gov on safeguarding standards and 
management of allegations against teachers (and others).  
Await further government review. 

In place 
but 
change in 
guidance?  

9 Implement the safeguarding aspects of the revised Common Core of 
Knowledge and Skills for the Children’s Workforce (due 2010) 
 

Being planned by the Training SubGroup. Was published earlier 
in the year. Future SSCB training to be commissioned planned 
against the revised Common Core – all agencies to implement.  
 

 
Started 

10 Review the way in which the Board sets standards for agency learning 
in children’s safeguarding for local agencies and commissions and/or 
provides inter-agency training in child protection and safeguarding.  
To be done with the Workforce Development Group.  In 2010 – 11 
provide a directly delivered inter-agency training programme.   
 

Training SubGroup to be transformed - Subgroup Review.   
Training Brochure published June 2010. 
Work has started on looking at the role of e-learning within and 
across agencies.  
Need to continue with ‘transformational learning’ that has started 
and look at support for and ownership of lessons at the frontline 
– the Learning from the Frontline process, cascade training, 
update seminars will continue with this.  
Looking at the transfer of training provision to the Council with 
commissioning by the SSCB.  
Note the Interim Munro Review: see a strengthened role for 
LSCBs in ensuring safeguarding practice at the frontline and its 
supervision.  
 

Started 
Done 
Started 
 
Ongoing 
 
 
 
Started 
 
 
 
 
 

11 To disseminate the Messages from Research  (on Neglect and 
Emotional Abuse) to be published in late Autumn 2010 – a possible 
topic for the Annual Stakeholders’ Conference of January 2011. The 
overall ‘messages’ will not now be published until the Spring but it 
may be possible to include more if them in the Annual Conference. 

Some of the research studies have been published; these are 
being covered in the SSCB Update Seminars.  (Nov 10) 
Agencies need to consider how they use the SSCB Update 
seminars to ensure how these massages are being cascaded 
back into their organisations and front line work.  
Messages from research now re-scheduled nationally to late 
Spring 2011 

 
 
Started & 
ongoing 

 

   Malcolm Ward, Safeguarding Manager  17.11.10    

51



Southwark  

Safeguarding  

Children  

Board 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Terms of Reference 
 

Agreed 
 

July 2010 
 
 
 

Amended December 2010 
 
 
 
 
 

52



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board       

www.southwark.gov.uk/safeguardingchildren 2

1   Context 
 
1.1 The Southwark Safeguarding Children Board (SSCB) is a statutory partnership of lead 

agencies for safeguarding children. It is the statutory Local Safeguarding Children 
Board (LSCB) for Southwark.  

 
1.2 It works within the context of a diverse community with high levels of need, where 

the higher proportion of children is from black or minority ethnic backgrounds. As 
part of its work the Board will ensure that decision-making considers the possible 
equality impact of any proposed actions or planned outcomes.  

 
1.3 The Board is committed to joint working and co-operation between all local agencies 

(statutory, voluntary and independent) working with children and their parents. 
Where relevant the Board will co-operate with neighbouring local safeguarding 
children boards / authorities.   

 
 

2   Purpose of the Southwark Safeguarding Children Board 
 
2.1 The Southwark Safeguarding Children Board has the lead responsibility for setting 

the inter-agency strategic direction for the Stay Safe outcome under the delivery of 
the national Every Child Matters initiative within Southwark.  

 
2.2 It is responsible for co-ordinating joint strategic and operational leadership within 

and across local agencies, setting professional standards in safeguarding and 
ensuring multi-disciplinary co-operation and effective arrangements to safeguard 
children.   

 
2.3 The Board expects its members, their agencies and practitioners to work to the 

highest standards possible to safeguard children in Southwark from harm and 
neglect.  Safeguarding involves preventing; protecting and helping children overcome 
neglect and abuse (physical, sexual or emotional).  

 
2.4 The Board does not provide services direct to children, families or to adults who may 

pose a risk to children. This is the responsibility of the statutory, independent, 
voluntary, community and faith agencies within Southwark.   

 
2.5 Where possible and appropriate the Board will involve service users and a wide 

range of stakeholders in the planning and review of its leadership work.  It will seek 
the views of young people through relevant representation groups such as the Youth 
Council and Speakerbox (the Children in Care Council); through the appointment of 
lay members and developing a relationship with neighbourhood and community 
organisations. It will seek to consult and involve Southwark communities in keeping 
children safe.   

 
 

53



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board       

www.southwark.gov.uk/safeguardingchildren 3

3   Governance 
 
3.1 Each Local Authority/Children’s Services Authority is required by law, regulation and 

statutory guidance to establish a Local Safeguarding Children Board (Secs 13 - 16 
Children Act 2004, the regulations which accompany the Act, and Working Together 
to Safeguard Children 2010). Local statutory agencies are required to contribute to 
the work of the Board and safeguarding children (Secs 10 and 11 Children Act 2004 
and Working Together 2010)1.  

 
3.2 Southwark Safeguarding Children Board is accountable to the Local Authority/ 

Children’s Services Authority and to the Southwark Children and Families’ Trust. (This 
may change as a result of the relaxation of the regulations governing Children’s 
Trusts.  

 
3.3 In furtherance of its aim the Board will work with other strategic partnerships e.g. 

Southwark Alliance/Local Strategic Partnership, Safeguarding Adults Partnership, the 
Safer Southwark Partnership/CDRP, and other bodies to ensure that safeguarding 
children is integrated into their work.  

 
3.4 The Board will appoint an Independent Chairperson who has the professional 

knowledge, experience and skills to chair its meetings and make decisions alone or in 
consultation with Executive Board Members between meetings.  He or she will have 
grounding in strategic and inter-agency management and child welfare/protective 
services at a very senior level.  He or she will be directly responsible to the Local 
Authority/Children’s Services Authority, through the Strategic Director of Children’s 
Services. He or she will remain independent and personally accountable and will not 
be employed by any member agency of the Board.  

 
3.5 The Independent Chair will have a specific role to challenge Board members and 

their agencies to be held to account for the work of the Board and the delivery of 
services to standards and protocols agreed by the Board. 

 
3.6 The Chair will appoint a standing Vice Chair from within the membership of the 

Executive to chair Board meetings in the absence of the Independent Chair.  
Executive decisions and decisions about Serious Case Reviews should only be made 
by the Independent Chair. He or she should seek the advice of the Executive Board 
members; and for Serious Case Reviews the Serious Case Review SubGroup.  

 
3.7 The Executive Board will be the main decision-making body of the Board.  Decisions 

can be made by the Main Board assuming there is a quorum of Executive Members 
present.  

 
3.8 The Board will have the authority to agree agency subscriptions to a joint budget 

and shared resources for the furtherance of the Board’s work.  The Board may 

                                                           
1 In November 2010 the Government indicated its intention to relax the section 10 duty to co-operate on some agencies. 
The section 11 duties and their parallel under the Education Acts remain unaffected; as do the duties set out in Working 
Together 2010. 

54



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board       

www.southwark.gov.uk/safeguardingchildren 4

commission the Council to employ or engage staff to further the responsibilities of 
the Board. The Board expects member agencies to commit resources in kind for 
representatives to attend meetings and subgroups and to further the work of the 
Board at the agencies’ own cost.  

 

4   Accountability  
 
4.1 Each Agency remains accountable for the delivery of its own safeguarding services 

for children as required by procedures or standards set out in statute or guidance 
particularly as set out in the Children Act 2004, the Guidance on section 11 of the 
Children Act 2004 (and Education Act 2002) and in Working Together 2010; as 
agreed by its own management or trustees; or as agreed with the Board.   

 
4.2 The Board cannot make decisions which are binding on a single agency or its 

resources. It may seek to influence and make recommendations to individual 
agencies and agree collective action with agencies’ co-operation.  

 
4.3 It is a key responsibility of the Board to hold Member Agencies to account for the 

quality of the work done to protect children and for effective multi-disciplinary work 
and working together.  

 
4.4 The Executive will be responsible for the Board’s Joint Budget and will give delegated 

authority to the Chair, Board Manager and Senior Administrator to manage and 
report on the budget as agreed in the Annual Work Plan.  

 
4.5 The Board will be accountable to Southwark Children and Families’ Trust but also has 

a role to hold the trust to account for its strategic governance of safeguarding 
children. Through the Strategic Director of Children’s Services and the elected 
Cabinet Member for Children the SSCB is accountable to the Children’s Services 
Authority/Local Authority in ensuring that partner agencies safeguard children.  

 
4.6 SSCB Members/Agencies should be aware of the needs of local minority ethnic 

communities, diversity in cultural heritage, status and need and be able to take this 
into consideration in the planning and monitoring of child protection services.    

 

5   Structure of the Board 
 
5.1 The Board will comprise an Executive Board, a Main Board and such SubGroups as 

are required by guidance or regulation or as are appropriate for furthering the work 
of the Board. The Board may appoint short term inter-agency task groups.   

 
5.2 Executive Board   The Executive will be responsible for agreeing/reviewing these 

Terms of Reference, the Board’s structure and governance and that it is consistent 
with statutory requirements and meets local need.  

 

55



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board       

www.southwark.gov.uk/safeguardingchildren 5

5.3 The Executive will meet at regular intervals throughout the year to agree and 
monitor the Board’s Work Plan, in line with the Children and Young People’s Plan and 
its own responsibilities.  It will take responsibility for the decisions of the Board and 
negotiating inter-agency agreements and shared resources as appropriate for 
safeguarding children under current legislation, guidance and research.  

 
5.4 The Executive will receive and review member agencies’ annual section 11 reports of 

their own compliance with section 11 of the Children Act.  
 
5.5 The Executive will commission or agree the work of the Main Board and the 

SubGroups; and monitor the outcomes in furtherance of the Board’s responsibilities 
and the Children Young People’s Plan (CYPP).  

 
5.6 Main Board     The Main Board will comprise a wider membership and have a 

consultative and advisory role to the Executive Board and to ensure that the 
decisions and work of the Board are realised.  It will meet two to three times per 
year and will be the main forum for endorsing any Serious Case Review (SCR) and 
SCR Action Plan drafted under Chapter 8 of Working Together 2010 (as amended by 
Minister of State letter on 10th June 2010).  

 
5.7 SubGroups       SubGroups will be constituted with authority to undertake specific 

ongoing tasks of the Board, on behalf of the Executive Board. They will have clear 
Terms of Reference and Annual Work Plans and will be accountable to the Executive 
or Main Board.   

 
5.8 Task Groups   Task Groups will be given a clear mandate but will usually be short 

term and will report to the Executive or Main Board as relevant.  
 
5.9 Annual Stakeholders’ Conference   The Board will hold an annual conference for 

stakeholders from a wide range of sectors, including professionals, managers, 
community members, service users and young people. Its purpose will be to promote 
the work of the Board and to seek wider views on the Board’s priorities and work.   

 
5.10 Relationships with neighbouring LSCBs.  The Executive will meet at least 

annually jointly with the Lambeth Safeguarding Children Board Executive to ensure 
parallel planning across agencies which serve both Local Authority/LSCB areas.  It 
has been agreed that the statutory Child Death Overview Panel will be managed 
jointly with Lambeth SCB. The Board will also work with the London Safeguarding 
Children Board, which does not have statutory authority, but which provides a 
negotiated co-ordinating role across all 32 LSCB areas and CSAs in London.  

 

6   Process and Meetings 
 
6.1 The Board will hold such meetings as are required to further its aims and duties.   
 
6.2 Any Serious Case Review will be agreed in a Special Meeting of the Full Board.  
 

56



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board       

www.southwark.gov.uk/safeguardingchildren 6

6.3 The Board will have a manager and such staff as are required to ensure that it meets 
its responsibilities.   

 
6.4 Agencies must also ensure systems in their own organisation management processes 

and operational agenda to ensure that the strategies, actions and procedures agreed 
by the SSCB are cascaded, addressed, implemented and monitored to ensure quality 
services to safeguard children in Southwark.  

 

7 Records and Information Sharing  
 
7.1 Each Board or SubGroup will keep a summary record of its meetings, plans, decisions 

and actions.  
 
7.2 The Executive and Main Boards will exchange papers and minutes to ensure that 

decisions and their rationale are available to all members/agencies.  
 
7.3 SubGroups will provide summary reports of their progress as required to the 

Executive.  
 
7.4 All agencies will provide relevant local, demographic and workload data with regard 

to safeguarding, as agreed, in order to assist an understanding of community need 
and intra and inter-agency planning and performance in safeguarding against agreed 
indicators.   

 
7.5 Agencies will also provide annual reports on their self-assessment of the delivery of 

their duties under Section 11 guidance.  
 
7.6 The Board is required by statutory guidance to publish an Annual Report of its work. 

This will include summaries of agencies self-assessments under sec 11 of the 
Children Act 2004.  

 

8 Membership Roles and Responsibilities 
 
8.1 The detailed membership is set out in the Appendix.  
 
8.2 Member agencies are expected to commit to attending the Executive, SSCB or its 

Sub-Groups, as required, and contribute to the Board’s work between meetings.  
 

8.3 For the SSCB to be effective it is important that all agencies working with children 
and young people and also those working with adults give SSCB members and sub-
group members the time and resources required to attend meetings and undertake 
work for the Board between meetings.  

 
8.4 Attendance at Board meetings will be monitored and where a member is unable to 

attend two consecutive meetings the Board Manager or Sub-group Chair will discuss 

57



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board       

www.southwark.gov.uk/safeguardingchildren 7

this with the member. If there are 3 consecutive absences from Main Board the Chair 
of the board will raise this with the senior management of the member’s agency.  It 
is to be noted that attendance at Board meetings is monitored in Safeguarding 
Inspections. 
 

8.5 A quorum will be 60% of the voting membership.  
 

8.6 Advisory members may be co-opted to the Executive, Board or SubGroups. 
 

8.7 Attendance at Board meetings will be monitored and where a member is unable to 
attend two consecutive meetings the Board Manager or Sub-group Chair will discuss 
this with the member. If there are 3 consecutive absences from Main Board the Chair 
of the board will raise this with the senior management of the member’s agency.   
 

8.8 Members of the Executive, Main Board and SubGroups will be expected to commit 
time to preparing for and attending meetings, seeking views within their agency, as 
required, and ensuring that decisions and information from the Board is taken back 
to their agency and disseminated or implemented as required.   
 

8.9 They will also be expected to keep up to date with key aspects of safeguarding 
children policy and research as it impacts on their own area of responsibility.  The 
Board will assist with relevant information sharing and briefing opportunities as 
guided in Chapter 4 of Working Together.   

 
8.10 Executive Board  Agency representatives to the Executive will be of the highest 

level, usually Chief Executive or equivalent, with sufficient authority to agree actions 
on their agency’s behalf and commit their agency to joint decisions and resources. 
Where the CE, Director or equivalent is unable to attend a senior deputy will take 
his/her place.  
 

8.11 It is agreed and expected that for the Executive Meeting where an agency is 
presenting its own Annual Section 11 Report that the Chief Executive would be 
present to lead the discussion about the agency’s section 11 self-assessment. For 
other meetings an agreed Deputy can represent the Agency or service but must have 
sufficient delegated authority to commit the agency to decisions and resources.  

 
8.12 The Head Teachers’ Executive will appoint a delegate who will act as a formal link 

between the Board and Executive and be able to represent  schools within the Local 
Authority area and act as a communication link to Heads about the Board’s and other 
safeguarding requirements.   
 

58



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board       

www.southwark.gov.uk/safeguardingchildren 8

8.13 In addition to the specific agency senior representatives the Executive Board will also 
appoint two Lay Members from the local community who are not employed by any of 
the agencies.  

 
8.14 Agencies which are not usually directly represented on the Executive will attend 

when their annual section 11 report is being presented by the Executive.  
 

8.15 The Board Manager, the Designated Doctor and the Designated Nurse will attend 
Executive Meetings as professional advisors. They will be non-voting members.   
 

8.16 The Council’s Elected and Cabinet Member for Children will be a Participant Observer 
of the Board, will attend Executive and Main Board meetings and be able to 
contribute to the discussion; but will not have voting rights.  
 

8.17 Main Board    Membership will comprise the Executive, or their nominated deputies 
and additional managers or professionals from relevant agencies who will have a 
useful contribution to make to the Board and its work.   

 
8.18 The Management Representatives from agencies not directly represented on the 

Executive will have voting rights to represent their agency at the Main Board.  Each 
agency will have only one vote.  

 
8.19 Other representatives may be co-opted to the Board as they have a particular 

professional and/or community perspective to bring to the Board’s work.  
 
 
8.20 SubGroups    SubGroups will co-opt members from a range of professionals with 

relevant experience or service involvement to enable the tasks agreed for the 
SubGroup to be progressed.  

 
 

9 The Board’s Responsibilities and Tasks 
 
9.1 As defined by statute and guidance. (Chapter 3 Working Together 2010)  
 
9.2 Through its joint strategic leadership the Board will agree the standards and actions 

for keeping children safe from neglect and abuse for member agencies to integrate 
into their own business plans and service delivery.   

 
9.3 The Board will agree local inter-agency procedures for the referral, assessment and 

protection of children at risk of harm and neglect. These procedures will govern 
single agency and inter-agency multi-disciplinary work. These will usually be the 
London Child Protection Procedures; but the Board may also issue its own 

59



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board       

www.southwark.gov.uk/safeguardingchildren 9

supplementary inter-agency protocols, as appropriate or in conjunction with 
neighbouring LSCBs. 

 
9.4 The Board will assist in drafting, scrutinising and delivering the Southwark Children 

and Young People’s Plan (CYPP). 
 
9.5 The Board will scrutinise the safeguarding in all streams of the Southwark Children 

and Families Trust work and CYPP delivery.  
 
9.6 The Board has the lead responsibility for quality assuring the section 11 Children Act 

2004 outcomes for all agencies.  
 
9.7 The Board will monitor outcomes from inter-agency services and learn lessons from 

reviews of work and performance management.  
 
9.8 The Board will set the standards and criteria for agency and inter-agency multi-

disciplinary professional learning and development in safeguarding children and may 
commission or provide such training from its joint budget.  The Board will only have 
responsibility for the commissioning or delivery of inter-agency and multi-disciplinary 
training. Individual agencies hold responsibility for ensuring that their own staff or 
volunteers are inducted and trained to the required levels set out in statutory 
guidance (Chapter 4 of Working Together, 2010).  

 
9.9 The Board will commission independent Serious Case Reviews as required and will 

publish the lessons and action plans and ensure a programme of learning where 
required to influence practice. (Chapter 8 Working Together 2010) 

 
9.10 The Board will review all child deaths of children normally resident within Southwark 

and assess whether the death was preventable in order to influence public health 
and agency services to reduce the incidence of deaths. (Chapter 7 Working 
Together) The Board and its partners will work jointly with Lambeth Safeguarding 
Children Board in exercising this statutory function.  

 
9.11 The Board is responsible for ensuring that all partner agencies have safe recruitment 

systems.  
 
9.12 The board is responsible for ensuring that there is effective information sharing 

about children and families of concern across partner agencies which is compliant 
with safeguarding and data protection guidance. With the Children and families Trust 
the Board will take the lead in ensuring that there is an agreed local protocol for 
information sharing across agencies which work with children, their parents or adults 
who may pose a risk to children.  

 
9.13 The Board will agree and publish an Annual Work Programme that is consistent with 

its own vision, responsibilities, assessed priorities and the Southwark Children and 
Young People’s Plan.  

 

60



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board       

www.southwark.gov.uk/safeguardingchildren 10

9.14 The Executive Board will review the Board’s Work Programme at each of its 
meetings.  
 

9.15 The Board will have a risk management reporting system in parallel to the Children 
and Families Trust to ensure focus on priority areas of performance where children, 
the Board or its member agencies may be at risk if policies, procedures and actions 
are not carried forward.  
 

 

Agreed at the Southwark safeguarding Children Board Meeting  

26 July 2010 

 

Amended December 2010 (Following further discussions at Executive and Main Boards) 

 
Southwark Safeguarding Children Board 

160 Tooley Street 

PO Box 64529 

London SE1 2TX 

Tel: 020 7525 3306        

Email: sscb@southwark.gov.uk         

Dec 2010   

 

www.southwark.gov.uk/safeguardingchildren 
 
 

 

 
 

 

61



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board       

www.southwark.gov.uk/safeguardingchildren 11

Appendix 1                Membership Executive Board   December 2010 

Agency 

 

Executive 
Member 

Role Comment 

SSCB Chris Davies Independent Chair  

Southwark Council 
Children’s Services 

Romi Bowen Strategic Director of 
Children’s Services 

Vice Chair 

Southwark Council 
Children’s Services 

Vacant Deputy Director of 
Children’s Services 

Education, Early Years, Integrated 
Children’s Support Services and 
Youth Services 

Southwark Council 
Children’s Services 

Rory Patterson Deputy Director of 
Children’s Services 

Specialist Children’s Services and 
Safeguarding/Youth Offending 

Southwark Council 
Environment and 
Housing 

Gill Davies Strategic Director of 
Environment and 
Housing  

Also representing Dept of 
Regeneration and Neighbourhoods 

NHS Southwark/ 

Southwark Council:  

Health & Social Care 

Susanna White 

 

Chief Executive  

 

Representation of Adult Social Care, 
Community Health, Primary Care 
and Health Commissioning 

Kings College Hospital 
Trust & Guys and St 
Thomas’ Hospital Trust  

Tim Smart Chief Executive KCH will represent GSTT except 
when GSTT is presenting its own 
annual safeguarding report or 
where there is an item on the 
agenda of specific relevance to 
GSTT which cannot be represented 
by KCH.  

South London and 
Maudsley Trust  

Stuart Bell 

 

Chief Executive 

 

CAMHS to be included in the health 
discussion in September and also 
represented in the discussion for 
children’s services in Feb/March 
2011 

Metropolitan Police 

Borough 

Wayne Chance Chief Superintendent 

Borough Commander 

Metropolitan Police 

CAIT 

Keith Giannoni Detective Chief 
Inspector 

Two police teams to represent 
Policing but for Sec 11 reports will 
need to add Sapphire and other key 
teams working in the borough 
which are in separate non-
Southwark Met Police Commands 
but which provide relevant services 
in Southwark. 

Community Action 
Southwark 

Chris Sanford Chief Executive  

Head Teachers’ Susi Whittome Head Teacher, Headteachers’ Executive delegate 

62



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board       

www.southwark.gov.uk/safeguardingchildren 12

Executive 

 

Keyworth Primary 
School 

Lay members (two) To be appointed In process 

In attendance  

Cabinet Member for 
Children,  

Southwark Council 

Catherine 
MacDonald 

Participant Observer 

Safeguarding Mgr Malcolm Ward 

Designated Doctor Dr Ros Healy 

Designated Nurse Mary Mason 

Senior SSCB 
Administrator 

Tina Hawkins 

}          

}         Professional Advisors.  

}         Non-voting and not representing their constituent 

}         agencies 

} 

 

63



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board       

www.southwark.gov.uk/safeguardingchildren 13

 

64



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board       

www.southwark.gov.uk/safeguardingchildren 14

 Additional Membership Main Board      December 2010 

Paul   Angeli Business Manager - Assessment Safeguarding & 
Family Support 

Children's Services, Social 
Care 

Nana Baddoo Area Manager – Environment and Housing Southwark Council 

Jane Bailey Assistant Director, 11-19 and Youth Children's Services 

Julie Bidewell Detective Chief Inspector Metropolitan Police 

Paul Calaminus Children’s Lead  South London & Maudsley 
NHS Trust 

Jenny  Brennan Manager, Youth Offending Service Children's Services 

**Martha Ford-Adams Named Doctor / Consultant Paediatrician King's College Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Dr Jane Fryer Medical Director (Acting Designated GP) NHS Southwark 

Marion Gibbs Headmistress (Independent Sector) James Allen's Girls School 

Neil  Gordon-Orr Children's Centre Development Manager Children's Services, Early 
Years 

Donna Kinnair Director of Nursing and Commissioning  NHS Southwark 

Sue Long Deputy Head St Saviours & St Olaves 
School 

Suzanne Long Southwark Borough Lead for Addictions SLaM NHS Foundation Trust 

Chris  McCree Locality Manager (Adult Community Services)  SLaM NHS Foundation Trust 

John  Mellor Service Manager CAFCASS 

**Louise Morton Named Nurse for Safeguarding Children King's College Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Emilie O’Bryan Children's Relationship Manager United Kingdom Border 
Agency 

Sam Price Detective Inspector Police Child Abuse 
Investigation Team 

Debbie  Saunders Named Nurse for Child Protection Guy's & St Thomas' NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Christine Skidmore Bede House Association  CAS***/Voluntary Sector 

65



Southwark Safeguarding Children Board       

www.southwark.gov.uk/safeguardingchildren 15

Mike Smith Assistant Director of Education Children's Services, Education 

Jonathon Toy Head of Community Safety Southwark Council 
Community Safety  

Pat  Varney School Governors’ Association Representative  

Dr Tara Weeramanthri Consultant Child & Adolescent Psychiatrist SLaM NHS Foundation Trust 

Hermione Wright  Assistant Chief Officer London Probation Service, 
Southwark 

Attending Professional Advisors 

Elaine Allegretti Head of Strategy & Partnerships Children's Services 

Jackie  Cook Head of Social Work Improvement and Quality 
Assurance 

Children's Services, Social 
Care 

Bernard Nawrat Head of Human Resources Southwark Council 

Fiona Phillips Quality, Training & Development Services 
Manager 

Children's Services, Early 
Years 

 
 
 
 
Southwark Safeguarding Children Board 

160 Tooley Street 

PO Box 64529 

London SE1 2TX 

Tel: 020 7525 3306        

Email: sscb@southwark.gov.uk         

Dec 2010   

66



Education Scrutiny Comitte.  
 
 
School Bacon’s College  Date of visit 25/11/2010 
Partnership Bacons PE and School Sports 

Partnership  
Reviewer Tom Eisenhuth 

Address Timber Pond Road PDM Tom Eisenhuth 
 
Evidence Base 
 
Previous discussions with PE Coordinators Discussions with Central London PDM’s 
Previous discussions with Assistant Head Teachers and 
Head Teachers 
Experiences in Schools 

Discussions with Dr John Spence Roehampton University  

Support and guidance of PCT and department for Health Critical analysis of current reports and trends on 
physical activity and obesity.  

Don Nutbeam, Department of Public Health and 
Community Medicine, A27, University of Sydney, NSW 
2006, Australia 

Research Papers  

 
Partnership Description 
The Bacons School Sport Partnership has been functioning for more than 7 years under the guidance of different 
Partnership Development Managers (PDM), a range of School Sport Coordinators (SSCo) and encompassing a wide 
range of schools with Primary Link Teachers/PE Coordinators (PLT).  
 
With the current staffing structure in place to ensure that the work of the SSCO’s and schools can be monitored and 
all requirements are based on school NEEDS rather than good ideas we have progressed from being a school provision 
to a school lead ‘PE and School Sport’ support and development delivery team.  We are continually developing Quality 
assurance systems to help raise the quality of provision although the SSCO may benefit from the introduction of 
further systems to monitor their CPD and support the work of the team.  
 
Analysis Of he Partnership:  
Bacons College has a strong ‘physical education and school sports partnership team’ with a very supportive Head 
Teacher.   All members including the PDM have experience working with pupils from KS1t to KS5 in a variety of 
teaching and learning capacities. The many strengths the department possess need to be managed to ensure that 
these areas continue to grow and that the areas of weakness become the focus of strategic developments.  
 
The ‘Partnership’ cannot work in isolation and it is vital that all aspects of the local authority, including health, 
education and the leisure team work closely together to ensure future ‘Physical Education and school Sport Targets’ 
will ensure the achievements of the partnership are embed within schools and continue to grow. 
 
In seven years the partnership ensured schools have progressed from 23% of our their young people are participating 
in two hours physical education and school sport a week to over 90%. This is a remarkable achievement and one that 
demonstrates the impact working partnerships can have and particular the impact this network has had on soft school 
targets.   
 
With continued investment into this network, the partnership has the capacity to build into its programme; personal 
development, health and social inclusion initiatives that will see continued growth as have all elements associated 
with PE and School Sport.  
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 7
67



Health and wellbeing Programme:  
 
Health literacy is a relatively new concept in health promotion. It is used as a composite term to describe a range of 
outcomes to health education and communication activities. From this perspective, health education is directed 
towards improving health literacy. Through the ‘Health and Wellbeing Programme’ we place health education in 
contemporary health promotion and examining the definition and usefulness of the concept of health literacy. In 
doing so, we look to promote renewed attention to the role of health education, physical education and 
communication in health promotion within the context of the ‘health and wellbeing’ of the family unit. 

Education has been an essential component of action to promote health and prevent disease throughout this century. 
Campaigns to promote maternal and child health, to prevent communicable disease, and to promote immunization 
and other preventive health services have a long history. In developing countries, health education directed towards 
these goals remains a fundamental tool in the promotion of health and prevention of disease.  
 
Many of these early campaigns were characterized by their emphasis on the transmission of information, and were 
based upon a relatively simplistic understanding of the relationship between communication and behaviour change. 
Over time, it became apparent that campaigns which focused only on the transmission of information and failed to 
take account of the social and economic circumstances of individuals were not achieving the results which had been 
expected in terms of their impact on health behaviour. 

A study by Speakman's group found that contrary to popular belief, our lives have not become more sedentary in 
recent decades. Physical activity has remained the same for at least the past 25 years, while obesity rates have soared. 

Introduction to Health Literacy: A Public Health Problem 

The links between health and education are well established. The Acheson Inquiry into inequalities in health 
recognises that educational qualifications are a determinant of an individual’s labour market position, which in turn 
influences income, housing and other material resources. These are related to health and health inequalities. More 
specifically, we know that poor basic skills impact profoundly on a person’s ability to navigate the healthcare system, 
talk to healthcare providers effectively and get the most out of healthcare services. 

Key Points:  

- Promoting exercise is a good idea, but if you want to tackle the obesity epidemic it is not the solution. Weight loss is 
not a key benefit from exercise. Foregoing a small sandwich was as effective as a one-hour run, he added. 

- You cannot exercise your way out of the obesity epidemic. It would take an enormous intervention in physical 
exercise.  

- It is important for policymakers to realise that if they want to promote weight loss in overweight and obese people, 
the most effective way is through healthy eating and diets. 

- However, the report says exercise protects against heart disease, type 2 diabetes, osteoporosis and high blood 
pressure. 

Bacon’s PE and School Sports Partnership health and Wellbeing Programme;   

The ‘Health and Wellbeing Programme’ is designed to use the simple health messages available to bring about a 
sustainable change in attitude to physical activity and ensure families have the ability to make educated decisions on 
eating habits.  
 
The only way to make a sustainable change to the lives of ‘young people’ is through a three phased multidimensional 
health education approach.   
 
 
 
 
 

68



Program Background: Childhood Obesity in Southwark. 
 
Schools alone cannot reverse the current rise in childhood obesity nor will draconian health targets set by Local 
Authority or Government on individual organisations.  For there to be a change in our young people’s decision making 
process when it comes to health we must engage with parents/carers in a multi dimensional, multiple agencies 
approach with a ‘Lifestyle’ based change programme.   
 
Bacon’s PE and School Sports Partnership ‘Health and Wellbeing Programme’ is a three point intervention strategy 
using the schools community ethos to form the framework for supporting parents/carers and teachers in educating 
our young people.  The Bacons PE and School Sports Partnership will take the delivery lead with support from, Surrey 
Square, Southwark Primary Care Trust, Extended schools team and head teachers.   
 
Developing Health Literacy within Southwark is vital to ensure a sustained and significant drop in childhood obesity.  
Health literacy impacts people of all ages, races, incomes, and education levels. 

Mission Statement: 

Health and wellbeing is the greatest gift a child can receive and one in which they should be unequivocally entitled to.  
Our ‘Health and Wellbeing Programme’ is dedicated to overcoming the barriers that have a detrimental effect on a 
child’s personal Health and Wellbeing. 
 
Family Wellbeing programme Objective:  

1. Develop a ‘Health Literacy’ program that ‘Educates, Engages and Empowers’ Southwark families.  
2. Reduce the levels of childhood obesity 

 
Multi Dimensional Approach:  

Phase 1:    Preventive Education 
Phase 1.5:                   Parental Awareness Evening 
Phase 2:    In School Physical Activity Support  
Phase 3:    ‘Family Wellbeing Centre’ 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

69



 
The Three Phased Approach  
 
Phase 1:  PE and wellbeing Linked Education and Engagement Phase 
 
Key Theme: Engagement is the theme throughout this stage.  Having pupils ask how they can make change will be an 
indicator to the success of this phase of the program.   
 
Measuring the Impact:  
 
Within Year 5 Class:  

§ Student and Parent Health Literacy Q&A pre and post course-  (within student work book)  
§ Physical Activity Calculators – (amount of time spent taking part in physical activity)  
§ Student to Parent/Guardian ‘Health Awareness Evening’ letter and parental attendance 
§ Attendance increase in OHSL opportunities  
§ PE attendance 

 
Across the school:  
 

§ Importance of PE to whole school?  
§ Displays around the school?  
§ Lunch menu?  
§ Parental involvement?  
§ Change 4 Life Program On Display?  
§ Get Set 2012 School Yes or No?  
§ Program progression across the key stages 

 
School Performance:  
 

§ Teacher to nominate two barriers during training – Partnership will assess schools against those barriers 
§ Teacher to nominate two easy wins during training – Partnership will assess school against those barriers. 

 
 

Phase 2: After School Activity Clubs 
Key Theme:  
 
Reinforcing the importance of physical activity and reengaging those inactive pupils.  Clubs will be monitored by the 
Schools Sport partnership with regular CPD courses for coaches.   

 
§ Each school will receive a half termly activity programme for pupils identified as non active or overweight 

or obese. 
 

§ Students most at risk will have a mentor from the Bacons PE and School Sports Partnership Young 
Leaders Program 

 
§ These clubs will take place on school site and on some occasion take place within the ‘Wellbeing Centre’ 

to help breakdown any barriers for parents and pupils.  
 
Phase 3: The Community Learning Hub: 

  
Key Theme: This is fundamentally the most important phase of the program.  As working with parents/carers 
to address lifestyle choices is the only way to reinforce the messages they are receiving from within the 
school.   
 
This will be done through the three A’s: 

• Acceptable  
• Accessable  
• Affordable  

 

70



§ All families will be offered the opportunity to access a Menu of activities at the ‘Wellbeing Centre’.  
o Healthy lifestyles choices 
o Nutrition advice 
o Cooking classes  
o Exercise sessions and advice from strength and conditioning coach 
o Goal setting  
o Impact exercise has on health  
o Counselling social and emotional support  

 
§ The ‘Wellbeing centres’ will develop into a community based learning centre.  
 
§ Pupils and the local community will have access to home work support groups 

 
§ Mental health services  

 
Anticipated Barriers:  
 

Physical:  Economic:  Political:  Sociocultural Educational 
 
Facilities unable to 
support needs of the 
family unit 

Low Income Media advertising 
influencing young 
peoples decisions 

The Influence if the 
family on Physical 
activity patterns or 
food choices 

How is ‘Healthy Schools’ 
accredited?  

 
Busy parental lifestyle 

Healthy food more 
expensive 

No TV advertising 
targeting kids foe 
eating fruit ands 
vegetables  

Parental 
understanding of 
eating good eating 
habits 

The priority head 
teachers place on 
Physical Education 

 
Healthy option 
availability 

Chicken and chips 
shops frequently 
target lower income 
families and have after 
school specials  

Schools lunches vary 
greatly and are schools 
offering the right 
lunches?  

TV’s, videogames and 
DVD players in 
children’s bedrooms 
encourage sedentary 
behavior 

The future of PE and 
Sports Funding  

 
Increase in snack food 
availability elsewhere 
and eaten at school 

Soft drinks are 
frequently on special 
and cheaper to buy 
than milk.  

Fast Food Industry?   Children prefer to 
spend time being 
sedentary rather than 
active?  

The quality of the 
delivery of ‘Physical 
Education’ in primary 
and secondary schools  

 
Increasing reliance on 
fast food 

Equipment and fees to 
join sports clubs and or 
healthy clubs costly  

Nontraditional sports 
not being used during 
break times.  

Children need adults to 
organise sport and 
games or they will not 
play  

Out of hours physical 
activity program variety  

 
Teachers have less time 
for extracurricular 
activity.  

Due to a lack of local 
sports clubs added 
cost makes continued 
participation difficult.   

Change in government 
and potential changes 
to school funding?  

Healthy Food Role 
Models Needed 

Need for conjoined  
work with Education  
and Health departments 

 
One parent families 

Clubs are unable to 
expand to cater for 
young people due to 
number of volunteers.  
 

Future of the School 
Sports Partnership and 
its ability to cover all 
schools in Southwark  

Although children have 
the knowledge of the 
healthy food plate, this 
does not translate into 
what they eat.  

 

   Children are popular if 
they have ‘fun’ snack 
food to trade. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

71



Recommendations:   
 

§ PDM to ensure funding is available to enable the current network remains in place to ensure the 
development of this programme is sustainable.     

§ Development of systems of central recording to provide schools and teachers with a required 
format for records about training and activities.  

§ Continuation of the CPD programme in place with expansion across Southwark. 
§ Partnership to change from its current strategy to a locally driven strategy; 

 
Local Strategy;  
The four key strategic points of reference:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
• The development of school specific reporting system on the ‘Wellbeing’ of the pupil.   
• School PE and competition to be a local authority priority.   
• Local authority to work current Personal Development, Health and social Inclusion into the partnership 

programme.  

 
 
 
Questions to Consider 
 

§ Will the sports partnerships be in existence in 6 months?  
§ Where next? What are the next strategic goals? 
§ How can the success stories be shared and built upon? 
§ How can the programme be made sustainable.  
§ How can the partnership engage all relevant organisations in their work? 

 
 
 
 

Fitness Health & Attainment:  
- Locality of Play (school & community) 
- Primary PE development 
- Impact HQ PE has on attainment 
- Competition Calendar 
- PE as a tool for intervention 
 
 

Responsibility of Schools as Educators:  
- Encouraging schools to report on the 
‘Health and Wellbeing’ of their pupils.  
- Health and Obesity (Jim McKenna) 
- Health impact of short term programmes? 
- Health impact of long term programmes?   
 

 

Talent Development:   
- Gifted and Talented strategy. 
- G&T pupils centrally registered and 
profiles managed  
- Athlete support programmes  
 

 

Community Cohesion:  
- Leadership and volunteering in schools 
- Leaders supporting school sport  
- Community Sport 
- Sports Development   
 

72



Target

Target

Target

PRE: Baseline before start of the 5 week 

an improvement in student 
health related knowledge

student: 10 Indicators of HQ PE

Parent Q + A: CHQHealth Literate Family

Questionnaires: Health Related Knowledge- 
create our own? LSBU to advise on 

validation
POST: at the end of 6 weeks

Assessment For Learning [observation]: ON-
GOING

FOLLOW UP: 12 months

What is a Successful Outcome? Outcome Measures: Details

Same Q &A from phase 1 Value of PA: PRE/POST 

What is a Successful Outcome?

Higher PA participation

Sustained Commitment to PA: 
Joined Clubs, Sports, Active in comm

Parent EVAL: CREATE-What local progs were 
they aware of? Which ones are they interested 

in?

Families have increased 
awareness of local resources + 

support

DURATION: 2hrs a 
week, for an entire 

academic year

RE-ENGAGEMENT 
WHO: TA's + Coaches

WHAT: PA Sessions 
+health msgs

WHEN: immed 
following phase 1.5

Kids are 
identified 
based on 

their health 
related 

behaviours-  
ID Criteria: 

Results from 
phase 1  Q+A 

pre/post, 
Observation

To reinforce 
importance of Health 

to enhance PA Levels

↓ BMI and WC 

WHERE: with the 
schools

Physical Measurements: H,W, BMI, WC
↓ BMI and WC 

Outcome Measures: Details
Attendance: Weekly

PA Calculator: need to create 

Family Workshop: an 
evening of Health 

Related Knowledge 
and provide opp to 

access add'l support

Phase 2: Out of Hours 
club- 15 kids x 11 

schools

Families of 
all 5 year 
students

Phase 1.5

Phase Purpose

WHO: Teachers
WHERE: classroom + 

schools
WHAT: 5 lessons, WB, 

PE

Delivery Details

WHERE:  
WHAT:  

WHO:  WB Team

DURATION:  a couple 
of hours?

WHEN: at the end of 
5wks

WHEN: May 5

DURATION: 3 hrs  per  
week, 5 weeks

Phase Purpose Delivery Details
» Family Letter

All year 5 
Students: 

>720 pupils

Phase 1: Curriculum 
Intervention

» Good Things + 
Impact on ME

PREVENTATIVE 
EDUCATION

» Healthy Eating
» Physical Activity
» Goal Setting/My 
Support Network

Phase Purpose

Family Health and Wellbeing Programme
Delivery Details What is a Successful Outcome? Outcome Measures: Details

73



Target Outcome Measures: DetailsWhat is a Successful Outcome?Phase Purpose Delivery Details

Phase 3: Community 
and Family based 

activty

this will be 
determined by the 
results of phases 1, 

1.5, 2 + parent 
feedback + funding

74



 

Anticipated Barriers 
 

Physical 
 

Economic 
 

Political 
 

Sociocultural 
 

Educational 
 
Facilities unable to support needs 
of the family unit 

Low Income Media advertising influencing 
young peoples decisions 

The Influence if the family on 
Physical activity patterns or food 
choices 

How is ‘Healthy Schools’ 
accredited?  

 
Busy parental lifestyle 

Healthy food more expensive No TV advertising targeting kids 
foe eating fruit ands vegetables  

Parental understanding of eating 
good eating habits 

The priority head teachers place 
on Physical Education 

 
Healthy option availability 

Chicken and chips shops 
frequently target lower income 
families and have after school 
specials  

Schools lunches vary greatly 
and are schools offering the 
right lunches?  

TV’s, videogames and DVD players in 
children’s bedrooms encourage 
sedentary behaviour  

The future of PE and Sports 
Funding  

 
Increase in snack food availability 
elsewhere and eaten at school 

Soft drinks are frequently on 
special and cheaper to buy than 
milk.  

Fast Food Industry?   Children prefer to spend time being 
sedentary rather than active?  

The quality of the delivery of 
‘Physical Education’ in primary 
and secondary schools  

 
Increasing reliance on fast food 

Equipment and fees to join sports 
clubs and or healthy clubs costly  

Non traditional sports not being 
used during break times.  

Children need adults to organise 
sport and games or they will not play  

Out of hours physical activity 
program variety  

 
Teachers have less time for 
extracurricular activity.  

Due to a lack of local sports clubs 
added cost makes continued 
participation difficult.   

Change in government and 
potential changes to school 
funding?  

Healthy Food Role Models Needed Lack of conjoined work with 
Education and Health 
departments 

 
One parent families 

Clubs are unable to expand to 
cater for young people due to 
number of volunteers.  
 

Future of the School Sports 
Partnership and its ability to 
cover all schools in Southwark  

Although children have the 
knowledge of the healthy food plate, 
this does not translate into what 
they eat.  

 

 
 

  Children are popular if they have 
‘fun’ snack food to trade.  

 

 

 

 

75



Funding and Sustainability 

Walworth Ward:  

Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3 
Current Funding £32,000 Bacons 
Bacons PE and School Sports Partnership provide 
the CPD training for all teachers across 
Southwark. Bacons currently manage the 
introduction and review of the “Health and 
Wellbeing Program” at a considerable cost to the 
partnership.  

Current Funding £28,000 
Extended schools and individual head teachers 
have supported the program  

Current Funding £25,,000 
Aylesbury estate has contributed £25,000 to staff 
develop the ‘Healthy and Wellbeing Centre’.    

Sustainability £32,000 (Southwark Wide) 
The appointment of a ‘Health and Wellbeing 
Coordinator’ will ensure the training and 
implementation of the ‘Health and Wellbeing 
Program” can be carried on year on year.    
 
This person would be able to work with specific 
schools on reception focused programs.  
 

Sustainability £30,000  
As part of the Bacons PE and school sports CPD 
program for 2010-2011 all primary schools 
teaching aids will be offered the opportunity to 
access 20 credits towards a foundation degree via 
‘Roehampton University’.   
 
For this opportunity all TA’s will be required to 
deliver and manage the after school programs for 
their school.  

Sustainability £17,000 
The majority of cost will be centre hire.   
(We anticipate a number of local families once 
graduated will volunteers and community support 
networks will develop to support the centre)  
CPD and area specific support will be required.  
 
‘Health and Wellbeing Coordinator” will ensure 
programs being delivered meet a minimum 
standard.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

76



Long Term Sustainability:  

 

We see the “Health and Wellbeing Program” as simply a three phased intervention program designed to provide pupils, schools and parents the 
opportunity to contextualise the ‘Health’ message and health professionals the opportunity to identify those most at risk.    

The ‘Health Message’, however, needs a vehicle to ensure these messages propagate.  Through the delivery of high quality physical education we have the 
opportunity to ensure all pupils have access to simple health messages while ensuring they have the knowledge and skill to commit to physical activity for 
life.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

77



Measurements 

APPLE Project: 2 yr 
findings and follow 

up. Taylor et al, 2007 
and 2008. 

prevent excess weight 
gain in 5-12 yos by 

enhancing 
opportunities for 

healthy eating [HE] 
and noncurricular 

[NC] PA

»nutrition eduction: ↓ soda/sugary 
drinks, ↑ F/Veg

H, W, BMI, BP, WC, 
HR, Dietary Intake, 
PA [accelerometer]

activity prog focused on NC, lifestyle-
based activities 

» activity coordinators [AC] to dev 
NC PA sessions

Multi Component Interventions
Article/Review Goals Components Findings Discussion Future Recommendations?

»focus on HE and PA with all kids, 
not just OW/OB

»fdback: importance of addl 
staff/AC to  ↑ PA opportunities

» use TREND statement for design/reporting 
procedures

» designed so no ↑ workload for 
teachers

» Target age group is key/: younger is better, 
primary school age↑ opp for NC PA + simple HE 

msgs slowed the rate of 

excessive weight gain  in 1o 

school children

» high respoonse rates from 
schools

» Par/Comm Involvement is crucial to 
success and sustainability

» who willpay once the funding runs out?
↑ kids knowledge of 
health, fitness, and 

nutrition

» don't collect too much data
» after school healthy lifestyle 

club
» parents: ↑ confidence in 

cooking skills, ↑ participation in 
PA, ↑ sense of belonging to local 

community

»  kids: ↑ PA and fitness, ↓ BMI, 
improved dietary choices

» get other staff on the boat
» social cohesion is important for parents

» link to national events: change4life

» encourage teachers to go to after school clubs

BUFFALO 
Programme: Burnley 

food and fitness 
aimed at lowering 
obesity. NHS East 
Lancashire, UK. 

↑ PA of children » Curr based [CB] healthy 
lifestyle activities

Height, Weight, 
BMI, PA habits of 
kids and parentshelp kids develop an 

interest in good food 
and cooking

» parental programme to 
improve their WB and cooking 

skills

Review: PA 
Interventions. Sluijis 

et al, 2007. BMJ

systemic review of 
controlled PA Intv for 

kids 

2 addl PE lessons per wk, daily 
activity breaks, PA based 

homework

fitness, PA, Quality 
of life Q-aires, body 

fat % [skf]

 some evidence of effect was shown for environmental intvs and targeted 
@children low SES. studies should include assessment of implementation 

issues and carry out cost effectiveness analyses

interventions:  school, family or 
comm involvement have pos 

impact on PA levels 
various

the initial success [↓ BMI] of the 
intervention was not maintained 

two years after it ended

4 nutrition sessions delivered to 
students 4x/yr, init program: 

focused on reducing soda 
consumption

A multi-component physical 
activity intervention during 1 

school yr had beneficial effects: 
on PA, aerobic fitness, and 

adiposity 

Success was probably due to: attractiveness of the programme for children and 
teachers, its intensity, the use of expert physical education teachers, and 

integration into the regular
school curriculum

suggests that the true impact of a school intervention may not be known 
unless the programme is continuous

KISS: school based 
physical activity 

program. Kriemler et 
al, 2009. BMJ. 

assess the effect of a 
1 year PA prog on 

fitness and 
psychological health

measure long term 
effects of an obesity 
prevention program  

in schools 

CHOPPS: 3 year 
Follow up. James et 

al, 2007. BMJ. 

Height, Weight, 
WC, BMI

78



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally blank. 

Agenda Annex
79



 
Children’s Services and Education Scrutiny Sub-Committee 2010/2011 

      Distribution List 

For amendments to this list or for extra copies of the agenda, contact the scrutiny team – ph.: 020 7525 7291 or 
e-mail: scrutiny@southwark.gov.uk. 

 
 Copies  Copies 

Members and Reserves    

Councillor David Hubber (Chair) 1   

Councillor The Right Revd Emmanuel Oyewole (Vice-Chair) 1   

Councillor Lorraine Lauder 1   

Councillor Adele Morris 1   

Councillor Rosie Shimell 1   

Councillor Althea Smith 1   

Councillor Cleo Soanes 1   

    

Councillor Patrick Diamond (Reserve) 1   

Councillor Vikki Mills (Reserve)    

Councillor Martin Seaton (Reserve)    

Councillor Nick Stanton (Reserve) 1   

Councillor Geoffrey Thornton (Reserve) 1   
    
Education Representatives    

Revd Nicholas Elder 1   

    

Other Members    

Councillor Catherine McDonald 1   

Councillor Lisa Rajan 1   

    

Libraries [Albion / Dulwich / Newington / Local Studies] 6   

    
Council Officers    

Scrutiny Team [spares] 6   

Shelley Burke, Head of Overview & Scrutiny 1   

Romi Bowen, Director of Children’s Services 1   

Terry Parkin, Deputy Director of Children’s Services 1   
Rory Patterson, Assistant Director of Specialist Children’s 
Services and Safeguarding 

1   

Mike Smith, Assistant Director of Community Services 1   
Elaine Allegretti, Children’s Trust Development Manager, 
Children’s Services 

1   

Pauline Armour, Assistant Director of Access & Inclusion 1   

Eleanor Parkin, Departmental Co-ordinator, Children's Services 1   

Karl Murray, Head of Services for Young People 1   

Sarah Feasey, Principal Lawyer, Strategic Services 1   

John Bibby, Labour Group Office 1   

Paul Green, Liberal Democrat Office 1   

  TOTAL DISTRIBUTION 40 

    

 


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Obesity and physical activity presentation

	5 Southwark Youth Council
	6 Safeguarding
	Safeguarding - progress on workplan
	Southwark safeguarding Terms of Reference

	7 Review of childhood obesity and sports provision for primary and secondary children
	Bacons College outline
	Bacons College anticipated barriers
	Bacons College literature review

	
	

